Polymer Nanocomposites having a High Filler Content: Synthesis, Structures, Properties, and Applications

Christian Harito¹, Dmitry V Bavykin¹, Brian Yuliarto¹, Hermawan K Dipojono¹, and Frank C. Walsh¹

¹Affiliation not available

May 02, 2019

Abstract

The recent development of nanoscale fillers, such as carbon nanotube, graphene, and nanocellulose, allows the functionality of polymer nanocomposites to be controlled and enhanced. However, conventional synthesis methods of polymer nanocomposites cannot maximise the reinforcement of these nanofillers at high filler content. Approaches to the synthesis of high content filler polymer nanocomposites are suggested to facilitate future applications. The fabrication methods address design of the polymer nanocomposite architecture, which encompass one, two, and three dimensional morphology. Factors that hamper the reinforcement of nanostructures, such as alignment, dispersion of filler as well as interfacial bonding between filler and polymer are outlined. Using suitable approaches, maximum potential reinforcement of nanoscale filler can be anticipated without limitations in orientation, dispersion, and the integrity of the filler particle-matrix interface. High filler content polymer composites containing emerging materials such as 2D transition metal carbides, nitrides, and carbonitrides (MXenes) are expected in the future.

Can be accessed in https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlelanding/2019/nr/c9nr00117d/unauth#!divAbstract Can be cited using Nanoscale, 2019, DOI: 10.1039/C9NR00117D

02 February 2019

Polymer Nanocomposites having a High Filler Content: Synthesis, Structures, Properties, and Applications

Christian Harito^{1,2,3}, Dmitry V. Bavykin¹, Brian Yuliarto^{2,3}, Hermawan K. Dipojono^{2,3}, Frank C. Walsh¹

¹ Energy Technology Research Group, Faculty of Engineering and Physical Sciences, University of Southampton, SO17 1BJ, Southampton, U.K.

² Advanced Functional Materials (AFM) Laboratory, Engineering Physics, Institut Teknologi Bandung, 40132, Bandung, Indonesia

³ Research Center for Nanosciences and Nanotechnology (RCNN), Institut Teknologi Bandung, 40132, Bandung, Indonesia

 $\approx 13~000$ words, 4 tables and 11 figures

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Synthesis of high filler content polymer nanocomposites
- 2.1. Scaffold impregnation
- 2.1.1. 1D yarn
- 2.1.2. 2D sheet
- 2.1.3. 3D array
- 2.2. Filler mixing
- 3. The properties of polymer nanocomposite with high filler content
- 3.1. Mechanical properties
- 3.2. Flammability
- 3.3. Thermal and electrical conductivity
- 4. Factors affecting properties of polymer nanocomposites
- 4.1. Alignment of filler
- 4.2. Dispersion of filler
- 4.3. Interfacial bonding between filler and polymer
- 5. Conclusions and potential applications
- 5.1. Existing applications
- 5.1.1. Tensioning cables
- 5.1.2. Electromagnetic interference (EMI) shielding
- 5.1.3. Energy storage
- 5.1.4. Sensors and actuators
- 5.1.5. Thermal barriers
- 5.1.6. Tissue engineering scaffolds or implants
- 5.2. Future applications
- Acknowledgements

References

Abstract

The recent development of nanoscale fillers, such as carbon nanotube, graphene, and nanocellulose, allows the functionality of polymer nanocomposites to be controlled and enhanced. However, conventional synthesis methods of polymer nanocomposites cannot maximise the reinforcement of these nanofillers at high filler content. Approaches to the synthesis of high content filler polymer nanocomposites are suggested to facilitate future applications. The fabrication methods address design of the polymer nanocomposite architecture, which encompass one, two, and three dimensional morphology. Factors that hamper the reinforcement of nanostructures, such as alignment, dispersion of filler as well as interfacial bonding between filler and polymer are outlined. Using suitable approaches, maximum potential reinforcement of nanoscale filler can be anticipated without limitations in orientation, dispersion, and the integrity of the filler particle-matrix interface. High filler content polymer composites containing emerging materials such as 2D transition metal carbides, nitrides, and carbonitrides (MXenes) are expected in the future.



Graphical abstract: Approaches to the synthesis of high filler content polymer composites

1. Introduction

Polymer composites consisting of polymer and filler usually provide a better performance than pure polymers. The properties these composites are often dominated by the filler. Particles can be categorized as macro-, micro-, and nano-fillers depending on their size. The reinforcement of nano-fillers is significantly better than micro- and macro-fillers at the same filler loading ¹. This improvement is due to the large degree of contact between nanofiller and polymer, known as the "nano-effect" ¹. Putting a high content of nano-filler (e.g., carbon nanotube, graphene, or nano-TiO₂) may provide the polymer with new properties such as high electrical conductivity, refractive index, dielectric properties, mechanical properties, and unique response to certain stimuli such as pH, light, thermal, and magnetic fields. A 'high filler content' is considered in this review paper as 'containing at least 50 wt% filler'.

Carbon nanotube fillers have provided much promise due to their high strength, modulus and electrical conductivity. The Young's modulus and tensile strength of individual multi-walled carbon nanotube is 270-950 GPa and 11-63 GPa, respectively, measured by tensile testing in the nanotube length direction ². Due to their high strength and low density, CNTs present the best candidate for space elevator, which is a concept from NASA to reduce the cost of transporting material to space. This ambitious application has challenged researchers to grow the longest nanotube which has reached 550 mm in length ³. However, the breakage of the first nanotube in nanotubes bundle leads to a great reduction on its mechanical properties ⁴. Slip may occur between individual nanotubes surfaces when bundled without binder ⁵. Polymer can be used as a binder to hold the fibres in unidirectional position and efficiently transfer load between fibres. High content of filler with adequate interfacial bonding with polymer matrix is needed to maximise the properties of filler which later can be used for advanced applications such as this space elevator. As an example, the strongest biological material (*i.e.*, limpet teeth, tensile strength of 3.0-6.5 GPa) is made from ~80 vol% of aligned

goethite nanofibres within a chitin matrix ⁶. Many synthesis methods, such as solution processing ^{7–11}, extrusion ^{12,13}, and calendering ¹⁴ produce the polymer nanocomposites of random orientation and low nanotube content. Synthesis methods, that are able to produce a composite having a high filler content, need to be studied to meet the increasing demands on modern polymer nanocomposites.

Graphene is another exceptional nano-filler, which is one-atom thick carbon sheet with sp² hybridization, possessing an extraordinary electrical and mechanical properties ¹⁵. Owing to its high electrical conductivity (up to $6 \times 10^3 \text{ S cm}^{-1}$), incorporation of graphene within lightly cross-linked polysilicon (e.g., silly putty) will gives super sensitive electromechanical response that is able to detect pulse, blood pressure, and even small spider footsteps ¹⁶. A single graphene sheet has a Young's modulus of 1 TPa and intrinsic strength of 130 GPa measured by nanoindentation in atomic force microscopy¹⁷. Utilisation of graphene for bulk nanocomposite often faces several problems such as poor dispersion ¹⁸, weak interfaces between graphene and binder ¹⁹ and brittleness will significantly increases ²⁰. Recently developed bioinspired nacremimetic synthesis has successfully produced dispersed graphene nanocomposite with content of more than 70 wt% while maintaining its elasticity ²¹. Nacre has a "brick" and "mortar" structure consisting of 95 vol% inorganic CaCO₃ aragonite plate as a "brick" and 5 vol% organic "mortar" chitin and protein ²². This material has a high toughness due to well distributed "brick" filler and strong interfaces between filler and polymer. By mimicking "brick" and "mortar" structure, nacre-inspired graphene-chitosan nanocomposites has tensile strength and toughness of 526.7 MPa and 17.7 MJ m⁻³, which is 4 times and 10 times higher than natural nacre, respectively and electrically conductive ²³. This nature inspired design is suitable to create composite with high gas 24 and fire resistant 25 . A <0.1 mm thick heat shield can be made from nacre-inspired montmorillonite nanosheet-poly(diallyldimethyl-ammonium chloride)²⁵. This ultra-thin high filler content nanocomposite is able to protect silk cocoon, which

positioned 8 mm behind the composite, from ca. 2000 °C gas burner exposed to the other side of the composite.

An environmental friendly nano-filler (e.g., nanocellulose) has attracted increasing attention in recent years due to its low cost, renewable precursor, and biodegradability ²⁶. Nanocellulose can be extracted from natural resources, including algae ²⁷, sea animal ²⁸, and plant biomass ^{29,30}; it can also be synthetically grown from bacteria (e.g., *Acetobacter* species) ^{31,32}. The tensile modulus of single cellulose nanofibres was found to range from 100 to 160 GPa, which obtained by Raman spectroscopy ³³ and X-ray diffraction ^{34–37}. However, a high nanocellulose content (>30 vol%) is needed to produce significant reinforcement of the polymer ²⁶. Human bone typically consists of ≈60-70% inorganic bone mineral and ≈30% collagen ³⁸. To ensure successful implantation and bone regeneration, replication of natural bone is needed ³⁹. The synthesis of high filler content polymer nanocomposites scaffold is essential to achieve better bone implant, high-performance environmental friendly composite, maximum mechanical and thermal reinforcement of nanofiller. Due to the many potential applications, this review will concentrate on synthesis of polymer nanocomposite with high filler content, their properties, existing and future applications.

2. Synthesis of high filler content polymer nanocomposites

Synthesis of polymer nanocomposite can be divided into several categories depending on a polymer or filler viewpoint. From a polymer perspective, there are three categories which are solution mixing, melt compounding, and *in-situ* polymerisation. In solution mixing, a disperse solution of nanofiller is mixed together with polymer solution. After achieving a homogeneous dispersion of nanofiller in polymer, evaporation of solvent is needed to leave nanofiller intact with the polymer. This method is simple and typically only requires relatively low temperature compare to melt compounding. Nonetheless, the method necessitates an appropriate solvent to adequately disperse the nanofiller and to dissolve the polymer well. Melt compounding is a blending process of nanofiller and polymer melt to manufacture polymer nanocomposite. This method usually requires high temperature to melt the polymer. Although melt compounding needs a high processing temperature, it does not require solvent as an intermediate between nanofiller and polymer. In the *in-situ* polymerisation, nanofillers are directly mixed with monomers solution and disperse while the polymerisation occurs thus reducing the fabrication time of polymer nanocomposites. However, nanofiller can hinder polymerisation.

Since this review focusing on high filler content, the synthesis method was classified from a filler perspective. The composite fabrication can be pursued by mixing dispersed filler and polymer solution (filler mixing) or by polymer impregnation of tailored filler scaffold (scaffold impregnation)⁴⁰. Filler mixing is faster than scaffold impregnation which requires two steps: scaffold fabrication followed by polymer infiltration. However, the resulting product is usually thinner or less dense than scaffold impregnation due to the dispersion limit of filler. In scaffold impregnation, the geometry and morphology of filler can be tailored. It is important to ensure the process of polymer infiltration. The quality of polymer infiltration indicates the performance of composite thus the viscosity of polymer and its adsorbance to the filler should be controlled. Nanocomposites based on one (1D), two (2D), and three (3D) dimensional scaffolds and several mixing methods which able to produce high filler concentrations were represented in Figure 1. In this review, 1D fibre or yarn scaffold is defined as a composite which is significantly longer in only one direction or x axis than other directions such as y and z axis. 2D sheet or film has a significantly small thickness (z) compared to its length (x) and width (y). The 3D bulk composite has a shape in which the length (x), width (y), and thickness (z) cannot be negligible.



Figure 1. Approaches to synthesise high filler content polymer composites. Insets are taken from references ^{41–45}. Reprinted from Ref. ⁴² © 2016 with permission from Elsevier. Reprinted from Ref. ⁴³ with permission from WILEY. Reprinted by permission from Springer Nature Costumer Service Centre GmbH: Springer Nature, Nature Communications, Ref. ⁴⁴ © 2015. Reproduced from Ref. ⁴⁵ with permission from The Royal Society of Chemistry.

2.1. Scaffold impregnation

2.1.1. 1D yarn

The race to create high performance fibres began in the 1960s, when DuPont synthesised aramid (aromatic polyamide) fibres, names Kevlar ⁴⁶. It was followed by ultra-high molecular weight polyethylene fibres (e.g., Spectra, Dyneema), liquid crystalline polyoxazole such as Zylon, and carbon fibres (e.g., polyacrylonitrile (PAN) and pitch based carbon fibres). Owing to their high mechanical properties, carbon nanotubes, CNTs have the potential to be next generation of high performance fibre. Instead of carbon nanotubes, graphene nanosheets can also be tailored into 1D in the shape of ribbon (rectangular cross section) or fibres (circular

cross section). Methods to create one-dimensional (1D) carbon nanotube and graphene scaffolds can be categorised into solution spinning and solid-state spinning in Table 1.

	Solution spinning						
Spinning	Materials	Post	Mechanical properties Electrical			Electrical	
technique		treatment	Modulus	Strength	Elongation	conductivity	
			(GPa)	(MPa)	(%)	$(S m^{-1})$	
	<u> </u>			100	6.0.10.1		
Aqueous	Graphen	-	5.4	102	6.8–10.1	-	
disperision	e oxide			1.40	5 0	2.5 104	
coagulated in	Reduced	-	1.1	140	\approx 5.8	2.5 x 10 ⁻	
49	graphene						
Aguagua	Oxide	stratahing	11.2	261 1	60		
dispersion	o ovide	stretching	11.2	304.4	0.0	-	
coordilated in	Reduced	stretching	11.2	501.5	67	4.1×10^4	
ethanol-water	granhene	succennig	11.2	501.5	0.7	4.1 X 10	
and CaCl ₂ ⁵⁰	oxide						
Aqueous	Graphen	stretching	22.6+1.9	442+18	3.6 ± 0.7	_	
dispersion	e oxide	successing			0.0 - 0.1		
coagulated in							
acetic acid-							
water and							
chitosan 51							
Aqueous	Graphen	-	6.2±1.3	139±8	11.1±1.5	-	
dispersion	e oxide						
coagulated in							
ethyl acetate and							
CaCl ₂ ⁵²							
Aqueous	Large	annealing	135 ± 8	$1080 \pm$	≈ 1.42	$\approx 2.21 \text{ x } 10^4$	
dispersion	and			61			
coagulated in	small						
surfactant/CaCl ₂	reduced						
55	graphene						
A	OX1de		202	1450		0.0 - 106	
Aqueous	Large	stretching	282	1450	≈ 0.6	0.8 X 10°	
dispersion	graphene	and					
coaguiated iii	UXIUE	anneanng					
acetate ⁵⁴							
Graphene oxide	Reduced	roll	_	404	2.25	5.7×10^4	
hvdrogel	graphene	pressing			2.20	5.7 A 10	
J 0	oxide	18					

Table 1 Synthesis and properties of CNT and graphene fibre scaffold. Adapted from 47 and 48

coagulated in ethanol ⁵⁵	Reduced graphene oxide	roll pressing and chemical reduction while wet	-	102	85	3.55 x 10 ⁴
Chlorosulfonic acid dispersion coagulated in diethyl ether ⁵⁶	Reduced graphene oxide	annealing	36.2	378	1.10±0.13	2.85 x 10 ⁴
Surfactant dispersion coagulated in	SWCNT 57	washing to desorb PVA	15	150	3	10 ³
water-r v A	SWCNT 58	washing and stretching	40	230	0.9	-
Surfactant dispersion coagulated in acid or base ⁵⁹	SWCNT	-	12	65	≈ 1	1.5 x 10 ³
Sulfuric acid dispersion coagulated in water ⁶⁰	SWCNT	annealing	120±10	116±10	_	5 x 10 ⁵
Chlorosulfonic acid dispersion coagulated in water ⁶¹	SWCNT	stretching	120±50	≈1000	1.4±0.5	≈2.9 x 10 ⁶
Commercial carbon fibre ⁴⁸	PAN based	-	230-290	3530- 7000	1.5–2.4	5.8-7.1 x 10 ⁴
	Pitch based	-	343-588	2740- 4700	0.7–1.4	0.9-1.4 x 10 ⁵
		Solid	-state spinn	ing		-
Spinning	Materials	Post	Mechanica	al properties	5	Electrical
technique		s	Modulus (GPa)	(MPa)	Elongation (%)	(S/m)
Gas-phase CVD	MWCNT 62	-	-	100- 1000	≈ 100	8.33 x 10 ⁵
	long DWCNT ₆₃	acetone densificat ion	50	≈1100	≈ 3.5	-
	DWCNT a 64	water densifica- tion and roll pressing	91	3760– 5530	≈ 8-12	2 x 10 ⁶
	MWCNT 65	twisting	180	190	≈ 1.7-2.5	-

	DWCNT 66	twisting	8.3	299	≈ 5.5	-
Vertical-grown CNT array spinning	MWCNT b 67,68	twisting	5-30	150-460	≈ 13	3.03 x 10 ⁴
	MWCNT 69	methanol densifica- tion	37	600	2.45	-
	long MWCNT c 70	twisting	330	1910	≈ 7	4.17 x 10 ⁴
	long DWCNT d 71	twisting	100-263	1350- 3300	≈9	5.95 x 10 ⁴

^a tested at a gauge length of 10 mm ^b 10 nm diameter and length 100 µm length

 c 10 nm diameter and 650 μm length d 7 nm diameter and 1000 μm length

Carbon nanotubes and graphene fibre <u>show</u> promising result in new generation high performance fibre composites to replace carbon fibre. The highest modulus CNT and graphene fibres can achieve 330 GPa⁷⁰ and 282 GPa⁵⁴, respectively, comparable with PAN based carbon fibre, which has values of 230-290 GPa⁴⁸. The CNT fibres can be stretched up to 7%, which is more than carbon fibre at 1.5-2.4%. These properties are still far short of the theoretical potential of carbon nanotubes. Voids within the fibres and slip between each nanotubes reduce mechanical properties. Post-treatment, such as twisting, may solve these problems via modified fibre alignment. As an alternative, nanotubes can be impregnated by polymer to strengthen bonding to the polymer matrix without sacrificing alignment. A good interfacial bonding between tubes and polymer is necessary to ensure adequate stress transfer from filler to matrix.

The ease of polymer infiltration can be determined by the permeability of CNTs, which represents the capacity of CNT fibre to transmit fluid. Permeability is determined by porosity, volume fraction of filler, tortuosity of the path, the viscosity of solution, applied pressure, the size of polymer molecules, surface area per unit volume, and infiltration distance ⁷². Porosity

of CNT fibres can be reduced by post treatment such as stretching to decrease the waviness of the CNT. Solvent needed to lower the viscosity of polymer solution thus it is able to infiltrate the CNT fibres. Applied pressure aids the polymer to infiltrate the fibres. However, higher atmospheric pressure exhibited lower degree of impregnation, due to compressed fibre bundle making the polymer with molecular size higher than the pore unable to penetrate. Longer duration of impregnation is needed to wet and infiltrate long CNT fibre with high surface area per unit volume.

Several types of polymer have been used to impregnate CNT fibres such as epoxy, polyvinyl alcohol (PVA), polyethylene imine (PEI), bismaleimide (BMI), and polyimide (PI). These impregnation methods produced composite with filler content >50 wt%. Comprehensive reviews about polymer/CNT fibre composite with low filler content has been covered elsewhere ^{73,74}. Water-soluble ⁷⁵ and non-water soluble ⁷⁶ low viscosity epoxy has deployed to impregnate twisted dry-spun CNT fibre of diameter $\approx 10 \,\mu$ m. CNT fibre was immersed in resin mixture of hardener and epoxy monomer for up to 5 hours followed by curing at high temperature ≈ 130 °C. As expected, it was found that resin with lower viscosity was easier to infiltrate CNT and higher twisting rate of CNT was more difficult to be penetrated due to its compactness. Tensile strength and modulus of CNT/epoxy composites were higher than pristine CNT fibres while their elongations at break were slightly reduced. However, the epoxy was only able to penetrate $\approx 1 \ \mu m$ from CNT fibre surface. Several approaches are worth to try in the future such as vacuum impregnation, more impregnation duration, and CNT surface treatment to improve wetting of epoxy. Solvent can be used as alternative to aid polymer infiltration ^{77,78}. Densification of carbon nanotubes, directed by capillary force of solvent, may occur during solvent evaporation ⁷⁹ which synergistically increase the mechanical properties of fibres. Ultrasonication may also assist polymer infiltration by loosening fibre bundles ⁸⁰. The vibration treatment was found beneficial to strengthen the composite fibre despite the fact that

it may damage the outer surface of the fibre. Instead of twisting, polymer infiltration, and densification, the adhesion between polymer and filler should be taken into account to ensure high mechanical properties of composite fibres. Ryu, *et al.* ⁸¹ used catechol-based adhesive (polyethylene imine-catechol, PEI-C) mimicking the marine mussel *Mytilus edulis*, which is able to crosslink with CNT on heat treatment. The crosslinking of PEI-C at 120 °C for 2 h significantly enhanced tensile strength from 0.91 ± 0.24 GPa to 2.2 ± 0.15 GPa and the modulus from 65 ± 17 GPa to 120 ± 23 GPa. The number of crosslinks was further improved by catechol oxidation with Fe(NO₃)₃ creating catechol–Fe(III) bonds, which improved the tensile strength up to 2.5 ± 0.31 GPa. Fe(II/III) ions are known to increase the mechanical properties of mussel protein by inducing the formation of catecholato-iron chelate complexes ⁸².

Other approaches of making CNT/polymer nanocomposites fibre such as polymer impregnation on CNT during ⁸³ and before ⁸⁴ fibre spinning have been studied. A schematic of CNT/polymer nanocomposite fibre synthesis is provided in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Schematic showing three different methods of polymer impregnation into CNT fibre (before ⁸⁴, during ⁸³, and after fibre spinning). Adapted with permission from Ref ⁸³. © 2016 American Chemical Society.

To deposit polymer on CNT during spinning, layer-by-layer deposition of polymer was performed on a vinylon wire substrate ⁸³. The wire was wetted with an alcoholic solution of polyvinyl alcohol (PVA). Densification occurred as CNT was deposited on wetted vinylon wire yielding one layer of PVA/CNT fibre. The supplying roller containing vinylon wire was then replaced by winding roller (CNT coated PVA/vinylon wire). After 5 layers deposition, the vinylon wire was dissolved in hot water at 90 °C for 20 min and it was collapsed into ribbon-like PVA/CNT fibre with the width of 1.0-1.3 mm. The PVA/CNT fibre was wetted with PVA

solution before use as a substrate. Spinning and rewetting of PVA/CNT fibre were repeated until the desired number of layers has been achieved. The weight fraction of CNT was controlled by adjusting concentration of PVA solution. The weight fraction of CNT was 67.5, 62.3, 57.7, 54.0, and 44.6 wt % for PVA concentration of 0.01, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, and 0.4 wt %. PVA concentration was also crucial to control the thickness of the fibres which are 8.4, 5.0, 23.7 μ m for 0.01, 0.05, and 0.2 wt% of PVA. If the deposited PVA solution is too low, densification of CNT is not optimum whereas PVA may not able to penetrate the CNT fibre at high concentrations. Alternatively, polymer can be used as a coagulant in wet spinning and used directly without washing ⁸⁵. The resulting CNT/PVA fibre with 60 wt% of CNT has around 100% elongation, modulus of 80 GPa, and tensile strength of 1.8 GPa.

CNT/polymer nanocomposite fibre can also be synthesised using impregnated 2D CNT preform ⁸⁴. The 2D CNT film was immersed in 1 wt% bismaleimide (BMI)/acetone solutions. CNT to BMI mass ratio was controlled by adjusting the volume of BMI solution. Adequate wetting of CNT (7:3 CNT/BMI mass ratios) must be achieved to ensure stretch-ability up to 30% without fracture. The impregnated films were stretched in two different ways. Firstly, those were stretched directly up to 30%. Secondly, the films were stretched multiple times until 30% with 5-10 min relaxation every 3% elongation. After stretching, the ribbon-like films were hot pressed to cure the BMI resin. The films with multiple stretching were more aligned than one-step stretching resulting in the tensile strength of 4.5–6.94 GPa, which is the highest tensile strength compared to the other techniques (e.g., CNT with the polymer impregnation during and after spinning). As a comparison with the one-step stretching after BMI infiltration, the 2D CNT film was stretched to 30% before BMI solution impregnation. The tensile strength was poor due to non-homogenous deposition of BMI, which are 585–801 MPa and 3.83-6.31 GPa for BMI impregnation with and without CNT film stretching. Fabrication of 1D CNT/polymer nanocomposites fibre using impregnated 2D preform is the most promising method to create

homogeneous polymer distribution on CNT fibre. Polymer with large molecular size will be difficult to penetrate as-spun CNT fibre. While impregnation during spinning either requires complex setup or polymer that can be used as good coagulant. Deformability might be an issue for impregnated 2D scaffold. Further research is needed to explore the possibilities of tailoring impregnated 2D scaffold into long and thin fibre or braided into complex structures.

2.1.2. 2D sheet

2D scaffold can be obtained from simple drop casting or vacuum filtration of filler suspension creating carbon nanotubes buckypaper ⁸⁶, graphene ⁸⁷, clay ⁸⁸, cellulose nanopaper ⁸⁹, bacterial cellulose gel ⁹⁰. 2D building blocks (e.g., graphene and clay) are laid down parallel to the surface while 1D building block such as carbon nanotubes are usually randomly oriented. Alignment of carbon nanotubes buckypaper can be achieved by application of strong magnetic field (10-30 T) ^{91,92} or rotating cylinder (shear rate 640-1200 s⁻¹) ⁹³ during filtration of CNT suspension. Carbon nanotubes can be paramagnetic or diamagnetic depending on the helicity of the nanotube, the field direction, the radius of the CNT, and the position of the Fermi energy ⁹⁴. When strong magnetic field applied (10-30 T), CNT shows anisotropic magnetic responses which align the CNT to the direction of magnetic field. The requirement of such strong magnet is not convenient. The high shearing method may be a visible option for large scale production.

Spinning (e.g., dry, wet, and electrospinning) is a versatile method to synthesise aligned or random 2D scaffold from 1D building block. Recently, electrospinning received increasing interest from researcher. Electrospinning is a versatile method which is able to produce polymer ⁹⁵, carbon ⁹⁶, and ceramic ⁹⁷ nanofibres. High voltage is applied in electrospinning to create an electrically charged polymer solution or melt, which discharges from the tube tip and solidifies into fibres during its travel to the collector electrode. This polymer nanofibre can be converted into carbon nanofibres by carbonisation at high temperature (≈ 1000 °C) in vacuum

or in the presence of an inert gas shield to prevent oxidation. To spun metal oxide, low content of sacrificial polymer (10-30 wt%) with very high molecular weight is needed to be mixed with sol-gel precursor (e.g., zinc acetate, titanium butoxide). After spinning, the polymer is later decomposed into gas with heat treatment in air leaving only metal oxide in the form of nanofibre. The alignment of the fibres can be controlled by changing the collector electrode into rotating disc, parallel, ring ⁹⁸, and concave curved electrode ⁹⁹ which alter the electric field profile. The infiltration methods of 2D scaffold can be categorised into five methods in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Infiltration method of 2D scaffold. Adapted from reference ¹⁰⁰ with permission from The Royal Society of Chemistry.

The method to produce conventional fibre/polymer composites (e.g., vacuum assisted infiltration, spray winding, and *in-situ* polymerisation) can be applied to create nanofiller/polymer composites. Vacuum assisted infiltration is also known as vacuum assisted

resin transfer moulding (RTM). Reinforcement (preform or scaffold) is placed into the mould and closed followed by polymer drawn into injection port with help of vacuum. Complex mould structure is often used to fabricate 3D nanocomposite structure from 2D nanofiller sheet. Nanofillers such as carbon nanotubes have such a small size enabling it to conform to the surface topography of the mould, thus complex structure can be synthesised ¹⁰¹. The impregnation time of nanofiller can be estimated by adapting Darcy's law and Kozeny-Carman permeability equation with assuming behaviour of the polymer solution as Newtonian fluid ^{72,102}. Several factors affecting the permeability are similar to fibre which is porosity, volume fraction of filler, tortuosity of the path, the viscosity of solution, applied pressure, the size of polymer molecules, surface area, and infiltration distance.

Layer-by-layer deposition can be performed by spraying PVA solution on a rotating mandrel of CNT in which each rotation produce one layer of CNT/PVA composite ¹⁰³. The weight fraction of CNT was controlled by adjusting the concentration of PVA solution while keeping the same rotation speed. This spray winding method is able to reinforce pristine CNT fibres with polymer loading as low as 20 wt%. Instead of PVA solution, spray winding can also be used for BMI ¹⁰⁴ and epoxy ¹⁰⁵ resin by diluting in suitable solvent (e.g., DMF for BMI, acetone for epoxy). Post treatment such as stretching and heat treatment/hot press often used to increase the CNT alignment, reduce the porosity, and fully cure the resin.

Some monomers such as methyl methacrylate ¹⁰⁶, styrene ¹⁰⁷, nylon-6 ¹⁰⁸, and conductive monomers ¹⁰⁹ can be polymerised on the surface of modified nanofiller. First, the surface of nanofiller is functionalised with initiator such as 2,2'-azobisisobutyronitrile (AIBN) ¹⁰⁶, Li/NH₃ ¹¹⁰, caprolactam ¹¹¹, or oxidising agent for conducting polymer ¹¹². Then, monomers are added to the suspension to start the polymerisation and grow from the surface of nanofiller. This *in-situ* polymerisation method is called "grafting from" because the polymer grows from the surface of filler. Since the discovery of conducting polymer that lead to a Nobel prize in

2000 ¹¹³, controlled polymerisation using applied potential become an intriguing option. Conductive filler such as carbon nanotubes and graphene sheet can be used as an electrode. The electropolymerisation potential and efficiency are restrained through monomer concentration, the type of solvent, and pH of the solution ¹¹⁴.

Recently, novel methods have been introduced such as shear pressing and capillary rise infiltration. In shear pressing method, an array of CNT around 1 mm height was synthesised by chemical vapour deposition and oriented by pressing at an angle of 35 ° to the substrate ¹¹⁵ or rolling ¹¹⁶, producing flattened and horizontally aligned CNT film preform. Pressing apparatus in Figure 4a was needed to fabricate consistent pressing angle and shearing force on the CNT array. The flattened CNT preform was carefully peeled from the substrate using tweezer. The rolling method, which is shown in Figure 4b, in a "domino push" method. Firstly, CNT array was covered by microporous membrane and pushed with a cylinder to horizontal direction with constant force, which is similar to hand lay-up procedure in conventional composite fabrication ¹¹⁷. Secondly, a membrane covered CNT buckypaper was peeled off from silicon substrate. Thirdly, the aligned CNT buckypaper separated from microporous cover by ethanol. The buckypaper preform can be stacked into several layer ¹¹⁸ or directly use for resin impregnation (Figure 4c). Hot press is needed for layered preform to remove excess resin.



Figure 4. a) inclined angle shear press. Reprinted from Ref. ¹¹⁵ © 2010 with permission from Elsevier; b) domino push: (1) flattening the CNT array, (2) peeling membrane covered CNT from silicone substrate, (3) separating CNT buckypaper with membrane by ethanol. Adapted from reference ¹¹⁶; c) stacking of aligned buckypaper Reprinted from Ref. ¹¹⁸ © 2015 with permission from Elsevier.

The capillary rise infiltration is based on Darcy's law of permeability 100 . Firstly, filler was spin coated on thermoplastic polymer such as polystyrene. Secondly, the polymer was heated above its glass transition temperature (T_g). The polymer became viscous when heated and infiltrate

the filler by capillary force. The volume fraction of the filler can be controlled around 40 to 60 vol% depending on its packing density. This infiltration method is not limited to ceramic filler; it should be able to be applied to other 2D scaffolds. The advantages and disadvantages of each synthesis method are provided in Table 2.

Synthesis method	Filler content	Advantages	Disadvantages
Spray winding	50-80 wt%	-Large scale	Relatively complex
		production	apparatus
		-Good alignment	
Shear press	60-70 wt%	Good alignment	Small scale production
Capillary rise	40-60 wt%	Simple apparatus	Limited to
infiltration			thermoplastic polymer
In-situ	5-70 wt%	-Polymerisation and	Limited to certain type
polymerisation		composite fabrication	of polymer
		occur at the same	
		time	
		-A good interface	
		between filler and	
		polymer	
Vacuum assisted	5-70 wt%	Capable of producing	Thickness and filler
polymer infiltration		large and complex	fraction are difficult to
		part	control

2.1.3. 3D array

A 3D ceramic scaffold can be synthesised by foaming, coating, templating, slip casting, granulation, tape casting, extrusion, and pulse current processing ¹¹⁹ as shown in Figure 5a.





Figure 5. (a) Synthesis of a ceramic scaffold. Reprinted from Ref. ¹¹⁹ © 2014 with permission from Elsevier; (b) freeze casting/drying (ice templating) processes. Reprinted from Ref. ¹²⁰ with permission from WILEY; (c) supercritical drying. Reprinted by permission from Springer Nature Costumer Service Centre GmbH: Springer Nature, Nature, Ref ¹²¹ © 2000.

Templating is one of the most versatile methods to control porosity of the ceramic scaffold in the range of 20-80 vol% which can be tuned by adjusting the amount of templates ¹¹⁹. Soft template such as surfactant ¹²² and hard template (e.g., polymer beads, metal, metal oxide, carbon ¹²³) are commonly used as template. The bio-based molecules (e.g., protein) ¹²⁴ and organism such as virus ¹²⁵ affects the assembly and mineralisation process of the ceramic crystals, which can alter the porosity and surface area of the scaffold. Scaffold having lamellar structure can be synthesised by directional freeze casting/drying (ice templating) ¹²⁰. Freeze-drying consists of 3 main processes which are solidification/freezing, sublimation, and sintering depicted in Figure 5b. Firstly, liberation of particles from the ceramic slurry is entrapped between ice crystals during directional freezing. The higher cooling rate produces smaller pores size and higher solid content in slurry fabricates thicker ceramic walls ¹²⁶.

Secondly, ice crystal is turned into gas phase creating porosity. Thirdly, sintering densifies and creates a solid lamellar structure. Contrary to freeze drying, which use low temperature process (Figure 5b), the supercritical drying involves high temperature and supercritical region (Figure5c), where the distinction between gas and liquid ceases to apply ¹²⁷. Among other fluid, CO₂ is the most common fluid for supercritical drying with critical temperature of 31.1 °C and pressure of 7.4 MPa, requiring lower energy to reach critical point than water at temperature of above 374 °C and pressure of over 22.1 MPa. Co-solvent can be used for sol-gel synthesis involving supercritical drying. A microporous solid, namely aerogel, can be formed by deploying supercritical drying of hydrogel in autoclave resulting solid 3D network without shrinkage or collapse. The high porosity of aerogel allows facile impregnation of polymer to coat its solid surface adding more functionalities. The emerging technology such as 3D printing ^{128,129} and electrospinning ¹³⁰ can also be deployed to create 3D porous ceramic. With the porosity around 60-90 vol%, 3D printing and electrospinning are more suitable for polymer coated 3D network composites ^{128–130}.

The strategy to create 3D ceramic scaffold can be applied to other materials as well. However, most of the 3D nanofiller scaffolds such as CNT sponge ¹³¹, graphene ¹³², and nanocellulose gel ¹³³ are focused on improving light weight and porosity thus those are more suitable to make low filler content nanocomposites (0.1-1 wt%) or polymer coated 3D network composites. One must note recent development in hybrid nanocellulose/carbon nanostructures is able to enhance the dispersion limit of the carbon nanomaterials up to 75 wt% in water ¹³⁴. The high surface charge of nanocellulose (1400 μ equiv g⁻¹) together with its strong affinity towards carbon nanomaterials enabled the stabilitation of carbon nanomaterials in water. In addition to a stabilising effect and providing more bonding options, the hierarchical architecture can be created by combination of 1D, 2D, and 3D filler enhancing its surface area ^{135–139}. With this hybrid method followed by solvent removal (e.g., freeze drying), the 3D scaffold of CNT or

graphene with high filler content can be realised. High filler content nanocomposites can also be obtained by using a dense CNT array. An array of CNT is typically grown by chemical vapour deposition (CVD) at high temperature (600-1200 °C) using hydrocarbon gas as a carbon precursor, metal catalyst (e.g., Fe, Ni, Co) on a silicon or silica substrate ¹⁴⁰. The type of hydrocarbon gas and catalyst is crucial in determining the type of CNT (e.g., SWNT or MWNT) and the alignment of the array. Instead of aligned array, randomly oriented CNT sponge can be synthesised by CVD using ferrocene and 1,2-dichlorobenzene at 860 °C ¹⁴¹. The synthesis of dense CNT array is performed by detaching the CNT array from the substrate followed by densification using solvent ¹⁴² or polymer solution ¹⁴³. Using n-hexane, the volume fraction of an aligned CNT array increase from 1 vol% to 20 vol% after the solvent dries, while randomly oriented CNT array increase to 4 vol%. The choice of solvent determines the resulting density of CNT array in this liquid induced collapse method. Futaba, et al. ¹⁴⁴ were able to densify the CNT array up to ≈ 50 vol% of CNT using alcohol solution. The waviness of several millimetres long CNT array inhibits further densification of CNT. Surface tension, vapour pressure, and dipole moment of the solvent were identified as an important factor to determine densification level of CNT¹⁴⁵. Dipole moment has more influence than surface tension and vapour pressure to create high level of densification ¹⁴⁶. Densification can also be performed without the use of solvent ¹⁴⁷. CNT was growth in low pressure environment and then exposed to ambient pressure. The pressure difference squeezed the CNT into denser array. However, it only shrunk to 26% of the original size which is less effective than the liquid induced collapse method (which resulted in 5% of the original size).

2.2. Filler mixing

By mixing dispersed filler suspension and polymer solution, nanocomposites can be synthesized and tailor into yarn by wet spinning, sheet, and bulky composite. For nanospherical filler, polymer composites can be created by sol-gel synthesis. Sol-gel is a method to synthesis metal oxides involving hydrolysis and condensation reactions ¹⁴⁸ in alcoholic solution. The hydrolysis reaction of metal alkoxide precursor (e.g., Si(OR)₄, Ti(OR)₄) is controlled by adjusting water content and catalyst concentration (e.g., base or acid) and produces colloidal solution (sol). The reaction is followed by condensation reaction which creates interdigitated network of metal oxide (gel) and liberation of small molecule. This method is able to create particle with size of 1-2000 nm. Small particle size less than 20 nm is preferable for polymer nanocomposites synthesis since it is easier to disperse homogeneously. The particle can be synthesised with the presence of polymer (*in-situ*) or without (*ex-situ*). However, surface modified nanoparticle or *in-situ* synthesis is needed to create high filler content polymer composite up to 50 wt% without agglomeration 45,149,150 .

Synthesis of polymer nanocomposites using 1D nanofiller (e.g., CNT, titanate nanotube) by filler or solution mixing usually produce a composite with low filler content (\leq 20 wt%). Agglomeration occurs at higher filler content worsen the properties of nanocomposites. For CNT, the viscosity of the polymer solution usually increases exponentially after 2 wt% addition of CNT, lowering its processability ¹⁵¹. This is not the case for other nanotubes such as titanate and halloysite clay nanotubes (HNT). The viscosity of chitosan solution was decreased with 30 wt% of HNT ¹⁵². The viscosity started to increase after more than 50 wt% of HNT. Similar reduction was also observed in titanate nanotubes (TiNT) incorporation into polyamic acid solution ¹⁵³. Hydroxyl group of these ceramic nanotubes might selectively attract high molecular weight polymer lowering entanglement density of the polymer solution ^{154,155}. Although high filler content nanocomposites are processable using TiNT and HNT, homogeneous dispersion of nanofiller is still an issue that has to be resolved ¹⁵⁶. High filler content of these ceramic are suitable for the synthesis of porous nanocomposites tissue engineering scaffold due to its good biocompatibility ^{156,157} and low cost. Bone tissue engineering scaffold must have sufficient mechanical properties while bone tissue regenerates in the pore and replaces the scaffold. Hydroxyapatite (HA), which consists of calcium phosphate, provides active sites for cell adhesion and proliferation thus it is commonly used as filler ¹⁵⁸. *In-situ* synthesis of fibrous hydroxyapatite showed homogeneous dispersion up to 65 wt% of HA in polyamide solution ¹⁵⁹. Chemical bond such as hydrogen bonding and/or carboxyl–calcium–carboxyl ([–COO⁻]–Ca²⁺–[–COO⁻]) complex may formed between HA and polyamide preventing aggregation of HA. Alternatively, a 3D network composite scaffold can be achieved by freeze-drying of cross-linked hydrogel ¹⁶⁰. For example, graphene oxides (GO) and carbon nanotubes (CNT) disperse in polymer solution (e.g., polyvinyl alcohol, polyamic acid, polyacrylamide) or silane molecules may create cross-linked network ¹⁶⁰. The freeze-drying treatment of the cross-linked hydrogel followed by thermal annealing produces interconnecting network of porous GO or CNT/polymer composite up to 89 wt% of filler ¹⁶¹.

Nacre, which is inner shell layer of a mollusc, is an example of natural high filler content composites with a composition of 95:5 ratio of inorganic and organic. This composite has an intriguing "brick-mortar" structure with the inorganic part as "brick" and the organic part as "mortar". By adapting this example from nature, 2D nanofiller such as graphene, layered double hydroxides, and montmorillonite clay can be synthesised by filler mixing to create nacre-like "brick-mortar" structure. A comprehensive review about nacre has been published around year 2012 ^{22,162}. It can be synthesised artificially by freeze casting, layer by layer, electrophoretic deposition, mechanical assembly. Freeze casting is an ice-templated unidirectional drying method to create 2D scaffold which has been discussed in section 2.1.2. Nanosheets such as clay and layered double hydroxide have surface charge in solution creating stable colloidal suspension. Some polymers bearing electrolyte group, are able to dissociate into positively charged polycation or negatively charged polyanion in aqueous solution. Multi-layer inorganic-organic composites can be synthesised by sequentially dipping a substrate (e.g.,

glass slide) in colloidal suspension and polymer solution with thorough rinsing in the interval, to make sure only one layer of nanosheets or polymer formed at a time. Each dipping produces ≈ 1 nm thick nanosheets layer and $\approx 10-30$ nm of polymer layer, thus ≈ 100 bilayered film is needed to create 1 micron thick film which is time consuming. An electric field can be applied in electrophoretic deposition (EPD) to carry charged particles toward oppositely charged electrode. In layer-by-layer deposition (LbL), nanosheets and polymer must have opposite charge while in EPD the polymer can has same charge ¹⁶³ or no charge ¹⁶⁴. LbL and EPD usually produces composite with ≈ 50 wt% of filler. Instead of polymer, monomer such as acrylamide can be used in EPD creating stacks of montmorillonite-acrylamide ¹⁶⁵. Polymerisation was conducted afterwards using UV light, yielding 95 and 5 wt% of montmorillonite and polyacrylamide, respectively. However, nacre-like composites synthesised by EPD has less ordered "brick-mortar" structure than layer-by-layer deposition. Synthesis of nacre-like composites by mechanical assembly is able to create thick film, largescale, cost effective, and fast production. Nanosheets alignment is obtained using centrifugal, shear, gravitational, or pressure force in the mixture of nanosheets and polymer solution. Several methods of mechanical assembly are illustrated in Figure 6. Graphene oxide/polyacrylic acid composite up to 95 wt% of graphene can be produced using vacuum filtration ¹⁶⁶. Functional group of graphene oxide aids its dispersion in polyacrylic acid solution by creating hydrogen bonding. Graphene oxide was later chemically reduced in hydroiodic acid solution for 6 h to improve its conductivity.



Figure 6. Mechanical assembly of a nacre-like composite. Adapted from Ref. ¹⁶⁷ © 1999 with permission from Elsevier.

3. The properties of polymer nanocomposite with high filler content

This section highlights the features of polymer nanocomposite with high filler content such as mechanical, flammability, thermal and electrical properties compared to the low filler content composite. In ternary composite, the synergetic effect of hybrid fillers was seen up to high filler content (\geq 50 wt%) ^{168–171}. The synergism improved the mechanical ^{168–170}, thermal ¹⁷¹ and electrical properties ^{172,173} of ternary composites compared to binary composites. However, most of high filler content ternary composite are still focused only on mechanical properties. Strategies to synthesise high filler content composites could be enable thorough studies of the thermal and electrical properties improvement due to the synergetic effect of hybrid fillers across a diverse range of filler contents.

3.1 Mechanical properties

To compare the mechanical reinforcement of filler in composite, several parameters must be fixed such as the properties of matrix and filler. The matrix stiffness plays a major role in the significances of filler reinforcements. Lijie *et al.* ¹⁷⁴ showed that the reinforcement of carbon nanotubes (CNT) were decreased with the improvement of epoxy stiffness, which controlled by varying epoxy curing time. With the addition of 0.5 wt% CNT, the enhancement of the composite modulus was \approx 200% down to 23%, or even negligible at the epoxy modulus of 0.15, 1.63, and 2.5 GPa, respectively. As observed with transmission electron microscopy (TEM), it was believed that the soft matrix has more physical contact at the interface of CNT and epoxy compared to hard matrix. In recent years, the use of graphene as mechanical reinforcement has exponentially increased due to its superior mechanical properties ¹⁷. Here, the mechanical reinforcement of graphene for polyurethane, considered as soft matrix, are discussed to compare the effect of low and high content of filler.

The addition of a dispersed graphene oxide (GO) within thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU) increased the tensile modulus from 6.6 MPa to 9.8 and 28.7 MPa for 0, 0.9, 2.8 wt% of GO, respectively ¹⁷⁵. The reinforcement was even more prominent in functionalised GO/TPU, which reached up to 69.1 MPa tensile modulus improvement at 3 wt% isocyanate functionalised GO ¹⁷⁵. Although the improvements were remarkable at low filler content, the modulus of GO/TPU can reached around 166 ± 9.7 MPa at 90 wt% GO, with the toughness of 3.3 ± 0.3 MJ·m^{-3 176}. The 90:10 wt% of GO/TPU composite was synthesised using vacuum filtration creating nacre bio-mimetic structure of "brick" and "mortar". The vacuum filtration assembled the stacks of nanosheets with the TPU as glue between the nanosheets. The unidirectional orientation gives a huge benefit in the composite tensile properties. However, the modulus is still far away from the modulus of graphene, which is 1 TPa ¹⁷⁷. While strengthening the interface between filler and polymer increases the modulus of the composite, it sacrifices the toughness due to the brittle nature of the filler ¹⁷⁸. The crack deflection should

be facilitated to improve the ductility of the nacre bio-mimetic composite whether by using other materials (e.g., MoS₂, CNT, montmorillonite) or by the synergetic effect of covalent and non-covalent bonding (e.g., hydrogen bonding, polar, π - π interactions), in Figure 9²¹. The covalent and non-covalent bonding act as crack bridging during fracture facilitating the composite to be stretched before ultimate failure, which is known as pseudo-ductile failure ²¹. Recent strategies to achieve strong and tough nacre inspired GO/polymer are provided in the following Table 3.

Table 3. Recent developments in the strength, modulus and toughness of nacre inspired GO/polymer.

Material	Tensile	Modulus	Toughness	Crack deflection
	strength	(GPa)	(MJ m ⁻³)	strategy
	(MPa)			
rGO/10,12-	348.5 ± 12.0	Not	8.5 ± 1.3	Covalent
pentacosadiyn-1-ol		available		bonding
(PCDO) (96:4) wt% ¹⁷⁹				
rGO/CNT/ 10,12-	374.1 ± 22.8	Not	9.2 ± 0.8	Hybrid with
pentacosadiyn-1-ol		available		carbon nanotube
(PCDO) (95:1.25:3.75)				and covalent
wt% ¹⁸⁰				bonding
rGO/ 10,12-	439.1 ± 15.9	Not	7.6 ± 0.5	Ionic (Zn)
pentacosadiyn-1-ol		available		bonding and
(PCDO) (97:3) wt% ¹⁸¹				covalent
				crosslinking
rGO/10,12-	688.5 ± 17.0	Not	16.6 ± 1.2	Covalent
pentacosadiyn-1-ol		available		bonding and π - π
(PCDO) (96:4) wt% ¹⁷⁹				interactions
rGO/10,12-	944.5 ± 46.6	Not	20.6 ± 1.0	Covalent
pentacosadiyn-1-ol		available		bonding and π - π
(PCDO) (96:4) wt% ¹⁷⁹				interactions
rGO/gelatin (70:30) wt%	902.1 ± 90.4	27.84 ± 2.24	17.83	Mechanical
182				annealing,
				hydrogen and
				covalent
				crosslinking
GO/chitosan (CS)	347.0 ± 19.3	10.2 ± 3.1	10.6 ± 0.3	Covalent and
(95:5) wt% ¹⁸³				hydrogen
				bonding

rGO/chitosan (CS)	526.7 ± 17.3	6.5 ± 0.3	17.7 ± 2.4	Covalent and
(95:5) wt% ¹⁸³				hydrogen
				bonding
rGO/chitosan (CS)	868.6 ± 40.6	Not	14.0±1.2	Covalent,
(94:6) wt% ¹⁸⁴		available		hydrogen, and
				ionic (Cu)
				bonding
GO/sulfonated styrene-	158 ± 6.0	Not	15.3 ± 1.5	Hydrogen
ethylene/butylene-		available		bonding and π - π
styrene (SSEBS) (90:10)				interactions
rGO/polyginyl alcohol	129.3 ± 12.2	2.02 ± 0.12	7.30 ± 1.08	Interlayer
$(PVA) (58.42) \text{ wt}\%^{186}$	127.5 ± 12.2	2.02 ± 0.12	7.50 ± 1.00	hydrogen and
(1 VII) (30.12) Wt/0				covalent
				bonding
rGO/MMT/polyvinyl	356.0 ± 15.5	Not	7.5 ± 1.1	Hybrid with
alcohol (PVA) (81:9:10)		available		montmorillonite,
wt% ¹⁸⁷				hydrogen and
				covalent
	207 10.2		12.0 . 0.7	bonding
rGO/polyvinyl alcohol	327 ± 19.3	Not	13.0 ± 0.7	Quadruple
(PVA) (92.7.7.5) Wt%		available		hydrogen bonding by
				polydonamine
				capped GO
rGO/2-ureido-4[1H]-	325.6 ± 17.8	Not	11.1 ± 1.3	Quadruple
pyrimidinone (UPy)		available		hydrogen
(85.5:14.5) wt% ¹⁸⁹				bonding by
				polydopamine
				capped GO
rGO/poly(acrylic acid-	382 ± 12	4.31 ± 0.08	7.50 ± 0.40	Hydrogen
co-(3-acrylamidophenyl)				bonding and π - π
boronic acid) (PAPB)				interactions
(96:4) wt% ¹⁹⁰				
rGO/MoS ₂ /thermoplastic	235.3 ± 19.4	Not	6.9 ± 0.5	Hybrid with
polyurethane (TPU)		available		MoS_2 and
(86:4:10) wt% ¹⁹¹				hydrogen
				bonding
rGO/carboxymethyl	475.2 ± 13.0	Not	66 ± 0.3	Hydrogen
$\frac{100}{\text{cellulose}} (CMC) (85.15)$	$+75.2 \pm 15.0$	available	0.0 - 0.5	honding and
w_{192} with 192				ionic (Mn)
VY L /U				arosslinking
"CO/by/decourses1	2742 . 97	Not	67.06	Underster
rou/nyaroxypropyl	$2/4.3 \pm 8.7$	INOL	0.7 ± 0.6	hydrogen bonding and
wt^{6} 193 $(117 C) (97.3)$		available		ionic (Cu)
W 1/U				crosslinking
				-1000mmmg

GO/	309	Not	6.55	Hydrogen
polydimethylsiloxane-		available		bonding and
poly(glycidyl				physical
methacrylate) (PDMS-				crosslinking
PGMA) (85:15) wt% ¹⁹⁴				
GO/polydopamine	170	Not	5.6	Hydrogen
(PDA) (90:10) wt% ¹⁹⁵		available		bonding,
				covalent
				crosslinking,
				and water
				content
				optimisation
rGO/polydopamine	204.9 ± 17.0	6.1 ± 1.4	4.0 ± 0.9	Hydrogen
(PDA)				bonding and
(95:5) wt% ¹⁹⁶				covalent
				crosslinking
GO/Poly (n-butyl	187	7	4.3	Covalent
acrylate) (PBA)				grafting and
(96.5:3.5) wt% ¹⁹⁷				hydrogen
				crosslinking
rGO/silk fibroin	≈300	26	2.8	Hydrogen
(97.5:2.5) wt% ¹⁹⁸				bonding and
				ionic (Al)
				crosslinking

GO = graphene oxide; rGO = reduced graphene oxide

From Table 3, it can be concluded that the choice of polymer matrix have a strong influence on the strength and toughness of the composite. The high strength and toughness was shown in the rGO/gelatin ¹⁸² and rGO/chitosan ¹⁸³ with both toughness around 17 MJ m⁻³ without additional elements. Both polymer have enormous amine and hydroxyl groups providing sufficient crosslinking density and hydrogen bonding. This is consistent with recent computational analysis of the mechanical properties of graphene nacre composite ^{199,200}. This study stressed out the importance of optimum crosslinking density to improve the strength and toughness. Several strategies that can efficiently alter the crosslinking density includes graphene oxide functionalisation with polydopamine ¹⁸⁸, π - π interactions ¹⁸⁵, and the utilisation of multivalent cationic ions (e.g., Zn, Mn, Al, Cd, Cu, Mg, Ca) ²⁰¹. Polydopamine functionalisation of graphene oxide increased the concentration of surface functional groups up to 4 times ¹⁸⁹ enabling more crosslinking with other polymer such as polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) ¹⁸⁸ and 2-ureido-4[1H]-pyrimidinone (UPy) ¹⁸⁹. The graphene oxide can be noncovalently functionalised with 1-pyrenebutyric acid N-hydroxysuccinimide ester (PSE) and 1aminopyrene (AP) providing bridging between adjacent rGO nanosheets ²⁰². The crack bridging through π - π interactions and covalent crosslinking with 10,12-pentacosadiyn-1-ol (PCDO) polymer resulted the highest tensile strength and toughness at 944.5 ± 46.6 MPa and 20.6 ± 1.0 MJ.m⁻³, respectively ¹⁷⁹. The π - π interactions can be also created by the incorporation of carbon nanotubes which acted as hybrid filler ¹⁸⁰ and by using a styrene based polymer such as sulfonated styrene-ethylene/butylene-styrene (SSEBS) ¹⁸⁵. Furthermore, the improvement in tensile strength can be pursued by ionic bonding through multivalent cationic crosslinking is found in nature, in the jaws of marine polychaete *Nereis* and *Glycera*, improving its mechanical properties ²⁰³.

3.2 Flammability

Based on the thermal application, the incorporation of nanofiller can be divided into two purposes, which are decreasing the flammability and to increase the thermal conductivity. Heat release rate is one of the most important parameters to assess the flammability of a product and its fire hazard ²⁰⁴. The heat release rate measures the rate of heat energy that is released by fire, which the higher value means faster heat transfer through a material. Clay has been profusely studied as flame retardant of polymer especially polyurethane foam, which is a combustible cushioning material ²⁰⁵. The organically modified clay with quaternary ammonium salt was shown to decrease the peak of heat release rate (PHRR) by 16.82% and 31.13% with the addition of 5 and 10 wt% organoclay, respectively ²⁰⁶. The type of the organic that used to

modify the clay was also plays a role in flammability behaviour. The PHRR showed 15.9, 30.2 and 26.4% reduction for octadecyl trimethyl ammonium (ODTA), octadecyl primary ammonium (ODPA), and decanediamine (DDA) at 2 wt% organoclay, respectively ²⁰⁷. However, the organic may react with fire, slightly reducing the time to ignition ²⁰⁸. Instead of clay, the flammability reduction was also observed in layered double hydroxide nanocomposites ^{209,210}. The nacre inspired high filler polymer nanocomposites were commonly deployed as coating to reduce the flammability of polyurethane foam. The PHRR of polyurethane foam was decreased by 84.1% with the \approx 1-2 micron thick coating of montmorillonite/carboxymethyl chitosan (MMT/CCS) at 50 wt% MMT via one layer of dip coating ²¹¹. The approach to make even thinner coating (less than 100 nm) were made by layerby-layer (LbL) coating ^{212,213}. The MMT was assembled with polyacrylic acid (PAA) and polyethyleneimine (PEI) to fabricate nacre composite reducing the PHRR of polyurethane foam by 42% via 10 bilayer of LbL coating ²¹². By combining cationic layered double hydroxide (e.g, boehmite) and anionic clay (e.g., vermiculite) with PAA and PEI as glue, the PHRR was decreased by 55% with only one bilayer of LbL coating ²¹³. The alignment of stacked nanosheets created tortuous pathway for oxygen reducing the flammability ²¹⁴.

3.3 Thermal and electrical conductivity

Contrary to the flame retardant, the application such as heat sink or heat transfer agent pursues the improvement of thermal conductivity. In non-metal materials, the thermal conductivity is generally dominated by phonons rather than electrons as heat carriers ^{215,216}. To ensure a good phonon conduction in composite, the interfacial thermal resistance, and the concentration and the geometric shapes of fillers should be considered in composite design ²¹⁷. The interfacial thermal resistance governs by the thermal contact resistance (TCR), which defines by the poor
interfacial bonding between filler and matrix, and the thermal boundary resistance (TBR), which occurs due to differences in the physical properties of filler and matrix ²¹⁸. Such poor interface hampers the phonon scattering and vibration restricting the heat flow. The functionalisation may increase ²¹⁹ or decrease ²²⁰ the thermal contact resistance depending on the functional group ²²¹ and its influence to the filler physical properties ²²². The filler, as an additive to increase the thermal conductivity, is also crucial in controlling thermal conductivity of composite. Most of the researches on low filler content composites are focused on the percolation network of filler, in which the fillers within matrix are connected and creates pathway for phonon or electron to easily transfer the heat ^{217,223}. When the percolation network exists within the matrix, the thermal conductivity is exponentially increased, which usually occurs around 10-20 wt% of conductive filler ²²³. A good dispersion, morphology and combination of fillers (e.g., one and two dimensional) become an important factors to achieve percolation. Meanwhile, the percolation at high filler content is assured even the composite thermal conductivity may close to the filler conductivity. The thermal conductivity increased from 10^{-8} , 0.02, to 287 W. m⁻¹ K⁻¹ at <10 wt% (no percolation), 10-20 wt% (percolation occurs), and CNT/polyvinyl alcohol (CNT/PVA) fibre composite with 80 wt% CNT, respectively, in which full CNT fibre was measured at 456 W. m⁻¹ K^{-1 224}. Anisotropy in thermal conductivity occurred especially in few walled carbon nanotubes ²²⁵ hence re-orienting the fibre (e.g., stretching) in one direction improved the thermal conductivity ²²⁶. Same anisotropy also happened in nacre inspired graphene/PVA composite where the ratio of lateral and perpendicular thermal conductivity $(k_{//}/k_{\perp})$ is 380 ²²⁷. The percolation phenomenon can be found as well in electrical conductivity of composite. Since the electron also act as carrier in electrical conduction, the weight fraction needed to achieved percolation is significantly lower, which usually starts from below 1 wt% of nanofiller ²²⁸. The electrical conductivity increased from 10⁻⁹, 10⁻⁶, to 920 S. cm⁻¹ at 1 wt% (no percolation), 2 wt% (percolation occurs), and CNT/PVA fibre composite with 95 wt% CNT, respectively ^{229,230}. To sum up, the high filler content polymer nanocomposite provides superior mechanical ¹⁷⁶, thermal ^{212,213,224}, and electrical ^{229,230} properties with several magnitudes higher than low filler content polymer composite. However, the brittleness should be reduced by crack deflection strategies (e.g., using lubricant or synergetic bonding) and the anisotropy of filler can be optimised by the alignment of fillers such as stretching.

4. Factors affecting properties of polymer nanocomposites

To make high quality polymer nanocomposites having a high filler content, key problem in polymer nanocomposites must be identified. The key issues and common problem in developing polymer composites are dispersion, interface between filler and polymer, alignment of nanofiller, and quality of nanostructures ²³¹. Defects on nanostructures will also affect the properties of polymer nanocomposite. However, the quality of nanostructures is outside the scope of this review.

4.1. Alignment of filler

Some nanostructures such as titanate nanosheets ²³², graphene ²³³, carbon nanotubes ²³⁴, boron nitride nanotubes ²³⁵ have anisotropic properties thus alignment of nanostructures is preferable to harness maximum benefit from nanostructural filler. For carbon nanotube, such alignment in polymer nanocomposite can be achieved by aligning the filler before polymer impregnation (e.g., fibre spinning and shear press) which have been discussed in previous chapter. It also can be forced by electric field, magnetic field, and mechanical stretching. However, the force alignment is not very promising since the alignment often only occurs on the outer layer ⁴⁰.

Aligned nanosheets within polymer can be obtained by filler mixing (e.g., nacre mimetic synthesis). Nanosheets such as clay, graphene, titanate nanosheets tend to stack on top of each other forming aligned brick formation. Even with simple drop casting, the degree of orientation can be as high as 95% within composite with 23 wt% of polymer ⁴⁴. For graphene fibre or yarn, the post-synthesis alignment such as rolling can be deployed to flattened the fibre into ribbon like graphene fibre ⁵⁵. Due to ordered structure of graphene within ribbon like graphene fibre, the tensile strength and electrical conductivity were improved almost twice from 238 MPa and $3.08 \times 10^4 \text{ S m}^{-1}$ to 404 MPa and $6.3 \times 10^4 \text{ S m}^{-1}$, respectively. The influence of polymer on nanosheet orientation becomes prominent at low filler concentration (<50 wt% of filler). For montmorillonite (MMT), 8 wt% of MMT only has 10% of the degree of orientation within polymer ²³⁶. The orientation can be altered by applying shear stress with high shear rate (>10 s⁻¹) on the composite. However, percolation of nanosheets occur at >8 wt% of MMT, making it insensitive to shear and exhibits no change in orientation angle.

The degree of orientation or anisotropy factor can be determined by small-angle X-ray scattering (SAXS). In-plane and symmetrical scan of SAXS provide orientation information in 2 directions which perpendicular and parallel to the surface, respectively. The peak intensity of scattered radiation is attributed to number of stacking nanosheets, oriented parallel to the surface (Figure 7a & 7b). The homogeneity of oriented nanosheets manifest in several points scanning across the composite samples (Figure 7b).



Figure 7. X-ray diffraction and polarised Raman spectroscopy to characterise the degree of orientation of filler in composite. (a) SAXS profile of titanate nanosheets (TiNS) by symmetrical (i) and in-plane (ii) scan; (b) SAXS mapping across TiNS/polymer composite. Reprinted from Ref. ²³⁷ © 1999 with permission from Elsevier; (c) histogram of the azimuthal

full width of half maximum (FWHM) of the 002 reflection (inset: SEM images of CNT fibre); (d) distribution of FWHM of 002 reflection ²³⁸. Reproduced with permission of the International Union of Crystallography (<u>https://journals.iucr.org/</u>); (e) polarised Raman profile of aligned CNT; (f) G-band Raman intensity as a function of polarisation angle. Reproduced from Ref. ²³⁹ with permission from The Royal Society of Chemistry.

Intensity distribution profiles in the azimuthal angle (ϕ), for particular 2 θ reflection along the Debye-Scherrer ring, also indicate the degree of orientation of the nanosheets ²⁴⁰. The Debye-Scherrer ring corresponds to the cone projection in θ which allows for ϕ dependence The illustration and example of azimuthal scan in X-ray diffraction is provided in Figures 8a & 8b.



Figure 8. (a) Illustration of an azimuthal scan of X-ray diffraction along Debye-Scherrer ring $(\phi = \text{azimuthal angle}, \theta = \text{Bragg's angle})$; (b) an azimuthal intensity distribution along Debye-Scherrer ring of the reflection (060) of montmorillonite ²⁴⁰ (FWHM = full width at half maximum). Reproduced with permission from Ref ²⁴⁰ © 2013 American Chemical Society.

Figure 8b shows an example of the azimuthal scan of montmorillonite based nacre-mimetic composite film at (060) taken from the cross-sectional plane of the film. The azimuthal peaks at around 180° indicated the in-plane orientation of montmorillonite in the film. The degree of nanosheets orientation can be estimated semi-quantitatively using full width at half maximum

(FWHM) of azimuthal peak or with the azimuthal angle and intensity by Herman's orientation factor (*f*). The calculation of degree of orientation using FWHM (Π) can be stated as follows

% Degree of orientation (
$$\Pi$$
) = $\frac{180 - FWHM}{180} x100$ (3.1)

where FWHM is the full width at half maximum (FWHM) of azimuthal intensity. Herman's orientation factor (*f*) can be expressed as

$$f = \frac{3(\cos^2\phi) - 1}{2}$$
(3.2)

$$\langle \cos^2 \phi \rangle = \frac{\sum_0^{\pi/2} I(\phi) \cos^2 \phi}{\sum_0^{\pi/2} I(\phi) \sin \phi}$$
(3.3)

where ϕ and $I(\phi)$ represent azimuthal angle and intensity, respectively. The Herman's orientation factor (*f*) shows the orientation relative to direction of interest, where 0 indicates random orientation, -0.5 perpendicular orientation, and 1 parallel alignment to the surface. The characterisation of orientation can be performed by Raman spectroscopy as well Figures 7e & 7f. Qualitative measurement can be made by polarised Raman, comparing the intensity of the peaks at a set angle. Most researchers use an azimuthal scan of XRD to determine the degree of orientation of the nanofiller within samples.

4.2. Dispersion of filler

A homogeneous dispersion of filler is crucial in polymer nanocomposites. Agglomeration may occur in poorly dispersed nanofiller creating micron-sized aggregates. Air may trap inside the aggregates to produce void within nanocomposite lowering its properties ²⁴¹. In solution mixing, lyophilic colloidal suspension is essential to create concentrated suspension. Lyophilic colloid occur when there is strong interaction between particles and solvent or dispersing agent. For example, negatively charged titanate nanosheets are more stable in aqueous solution of

tetrabutylammonium (TBA⁺) cations ²⁴². Positively charged nanosheets, such as Mg-Al layered double hydroxides, are more stable in formamide, since formamide has a carbonyl group and is highly polar ²⁴³. Having polar oxygen-containing functional groups, graphene oxide is stable in water, DMF, NMP, THF, ethylene glycol ²⁴⁴. The dispersion limit of the graphene oxide in water may reach up to 9 g L⁻¹ by addition of surfactant ²⁴⁵, which is significantly higher than CNT at 1 g L⁻¹ even after surface modification ²⁴⁶. However, some commercially available polymers (e.g., polypropylene, polyethylene, polystyrene) cannot be dissolved in common polar solvent. Treatments are needed to alter the surface of nanofiller stabilising its dispersion in polymer solution.

Chemical treatments are often used to improve the dispersion of filler ²⁴⁷. The surface of graphene oxide can be modified (e.g., alkylated ²⁴⁸, coated with other polymer ²⁴⁹) to be hydrophobic preventing agglomeration in non-polar solvent such as xylene and hexane. In-situ polymerisation of polypropylene can be conducted on the surface of graphene oxide by modifying the surface of graphene oxide with Ziegler-Natta catalyst ²⁵⁰. Filler can also be dispersed homogeneously, even in polymer melt by surface modification. Alkylammonium modified montmorillonite clay alters its surface to organophilic thus polystyrene melt is able to intercalate into clay layers ²⁵¹. The interaction between filler and polymer must be controlled. Liu, et al.²⁵² has studied the correlation between dispersion and filler-polymer interaction using coarse-grained molecular dynamics. It was found that moderate interaction between filler and polymer creates optimum dispersion of filler. At low interaction, filler tend to attract each other producing agglomerates while strong interaction between polymer and filler creating flocculates due to strong polymer adsorption to its neighbouring filler. Physical treatment may also help dispersion of filler. However, one must consider that physical treatment such as ultrasonication, shear mixing, and ball milling might damage the filler thus optimum duration of treatment need to be studied. Besides the chemical and physical treatments of the filler,

recent studies provide new approaches by using the interaction of filler with air bubble or oil ²⁵³ as well as synergetic effect by additional constituents such as clay ²⁵⁴, graphene oxide ²⁵⁵, and nanocellulose ¹³⁴. By tuning the pH of the solution, the graphene oxide (GO) can acted as surfactant with hydrophilic edges and a more hydrophobic basal plane enabling GO absorption on the interface of air-water and liquid-liquid ²⁵³. The amphi-philicity of GO were created due to the degree of ionization of the edge -COOH groups which affected by pH. Strong affinity between clay and carbon nanomaterials (e.g., CNT, graphene)^{256,257} prevented aggregation of each constituent and created network that lower the electrical percolation threshold ²⁵⁴. Such synergetic interaction also occurred between graphene oxide and carbon nanotube ²⁵⁵ as well as the nanocellulose with carbon nanomaterials ¹³⁴. Clay, graphene oxide, and nanocellulose have high stability in aqueous medium helping carbon nanomaterials to disperse in aqueous solution. One must note that nanocelluloses were able to increase the dispersion limit of the carbon nanotube up to 60 wt% and 75 wt% in water by incorporation of cellulose nanofibrils (CNF) and cellulose nanocrystals (CNC), respectively ¹³⁴. It was found that high surface charge density of nanocellulose (1400 µequiv g⁻¹) was necessary to create sufficient interaction with carbon nanomaterials producing stable dispersion. Such strong interaction was also create synergetic effect on the mechanical properties of nacre inspired graphene/CNC with 765 ± 43 MPa and 15.64 \pm 2.20 MJ m⁻³ for tensile strength and toughness, respectively ²⁵⁸.

Although treatments may disperse the fillers within solution, the filler content within polymer is limited. Viscosity of the polymer solution is usually increased to form solid-like viscoelastic behaviour by incorporation of nanofiller (e.g., CNT, graphene) which is undesirable for solution mixing ²⁵⁹. However, anomalous behaviour has recently been observed ^{153,154,260–263}. Slip between silica nanospheres and polymer occurred depend on particles size and polymer chain size, decreasing the bulk viscosity of polymer nanocomposite ²⁶¹. Strengthening interaction between silica nanospheres and polypropylene via grafting vinyl

triethoxysilane yielded higher viscosity of nanocomposite than pure propylene ¹⁵⁴. In some cases, nanoparticles may selectively attract high molar mass fraction of the polymer leading to reduction in entanglement in polymer chain thus lowering apparent dynamic viscosity ^{153–155}. Better understanding of nanofiller-polymer matrix interaction may help processing of polymer nanocomposite with high filler content. Alternatively, the preform of nanofiller can be deployed to ensure the dispersion of nanofiller within polymer matrix yet the impregnation of polymer into the preform must be ensured, for example by controlling viscosity of the polymer and strong interaction between polymer and filler. The nacre bio-mimetic approach also produce a good dispersion of polymer since the polymer can be uniformly absorbed or attached to the dispersed filler in solution before solvent removal to create "brick" and "mortar" structure. The polyethylene imine (PEI) modified mica enabled the mica to absorbed chitosan exhibiting uniform dispersion and exfoliation of nanosheets up to 60 wt% of filler ²⁶⁴. This composite exhibited 259 MPa and 16.2 GPa for tensile strength and modulus, respectively, while maintaining the transparency above 60% visible light transmission at 25 micron thick.

4.3. Interfacial bonding between filler and polymer matrix

Interface between nanofiller and polymer is important because it dictates the stress transfer efficiency in polymer nanocomposite. It can be strengthened by introducing functional groups to the nanofiller. It was established that there are two common method to functionalised nanostructures which is covalent (defect & side-wall functionalisation) and non-covalent (π - π interactions, hydrogen & ionic bonding) ²⁶⁵. The covalent chemical bond between nanofiller and polymer exerts high interfacial strength improving the load and heat transfer on the interfaces of the composites depending on the moieties of the linkages. For example, butyl groups are more effective in reducing interfacial thermal resistance compared to carboxyl and hydroxyl according to molecular dynamic simulation ²⁶⁶. However, the covalent modification

of the carbon surface induces the hybridisation from sp^2 to sp^3 reducing conjugated bonds and lowering its electrical properties ²⁶⁷. The non-covalent functionalisation can be used as alternative, which may improve the composite strength while maintaining the electrical properties of the nanofiller. The strength of non-covalent functionalisation can be determined by the combined effect of attractive forces (electrostatic, dispersive, and inductive interactions) and repulsive forces (exchange repulsion). In carbonaceous materials, the non-covalent functionalisation depends on the π interactions (e.g., H- π , π - π , cation- π , and anion- π). Depending on the stiffness of the polymer backbone, the aromatic conjugated polymer chains may create a helical wrap around the lateral side of the carbon nanotubes through π - π interactions. The wrapping mechanism occurs when the number of polymer units interacting with the nanotube surface at the expense of some torsional energy necessary to distort are sufficient. According to Jorge *et al.*²⁶⁸, the binding energy is stronger for more flexible polymer chain. However, flexible polymer with bulky aromatic side groups tend to make intrachain coiling rather than wrapping to the nanotube ²⁶⁹. This polymer wrapping also depends on the chirality of carbon nanotubes hence it can be used to separate semiconductor CNT from metallic CNT up to 99.85% purity ²⁷⁰.

Generally, the stronger interface between nanofiller and polymer increases the strength of the composite but lowering its toughness due to the brittle nature of the filler and the absence of crack deflection at the interface ²⁷¹. Toughness is the ability of a material to absorb energy and plastically deform which combination of the strength to bear a load and ductility. The composite with weak interfaces usually has high ductility due to the occurrence of crack deflection and crack bridging when deformation occurs. The combination of covalent and noncovalent interaction may create synergy of strong and weak interfaces improving toughness and its strength simultaneously. Synergetic effect of covalent and non-covalent functionalisation has been studied for improvement of polymer nanocomposite mechanical properties ²¹. Figure 9 shows recent development of synergetic effect in nacre graphene/polymer composite. The highest toughness and tensile strength resulted from the synergistic effect of covalent bonding and non-covalent bonding (e.g., π - π interactions and ionic bonding). To balance the strong covalent bonding, the non-covalent (e.g., π - π interactions and ionic bonding) is crucial to dissipate the energy allowing plastic deformation. Graphene fibres usually have higher toughness than graphene films due to the reorientation of graphene during tensile testing absorbing deformation energy ²⁷². Bending and wrinkling of graphene may occur during the spinning process thus strong interaction between graphene and polymer is needed to engineer the defect of graphene ²⁷³. The ternary composites also exhibit the synergetic effects by the interaction of two building blocks (e.g., graphene-CNT, graphene-MoS₂, graphene-MMT) which inspired by nature's hierarchical materials such as nacre with nanofibrillar chitin and aragonite calcium carbonate platelets. Natural hierarchical structures intrigues more researchers to synthesise man-made hierarchical structures such as tube-in-tube structures ²⁷⁴⁻²⁷⁶ and dots in tube ²⁷⁷, which also increased its functionality.



Figure 9. Recent developments in nacre graphene/polymer composite strength and toughness including graphene/polymer fibre $^{272,278-280}$, and its crack deflection strategy such as ternary composite 180,187,192 , combination of ionic, hydrogen, and covalent bonding 181,184,192,193,198 , π - π interaction and covalent bonding 179 , π - π interaction and hydrogen bonding 185,190 , polydopamine capped GO 188,189 , and covalent and hydrogen bonding $^{182,183,186,194-197}$

5. Conclusions and potential applications

While polymer nanocomposites of high filler content promise many potential applications, several improvements are needed to further maximise its potential. This chapter discuss the existing and future applications of these polymer nanocomposites which are shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10. Existing and future application of high filler content of polymer nanocomposites. The images of energy storage ²⁸¹, sensors & actuators ²⁸², tissue engineering or implants ²⁸³, tensioning cables ²⁸⁴, thermal barriers ²⁸⁵, and electromagnetic interference (EMI) shielding ²⁸⁶ were taken from references. Adapted from Ref. ^{281, 283, 284, 285} with permission from © American Chemical Society. Reproduced from Ref. ²⁸² with permission from The Royal Society of Chemistry. From Ref. ²⁸⁶. Reprinted with permission from AAAS.

5.1. Existing applications

5.1.1. Tensioning cables

The combination of nanostructural particles in polymer binder has been optimised for structural materials, heat barriers, adhesives, implants, and electronics devices. Recent advances in CNT and graphene fibre development, which can achieve the modulus of 330 GPa ⁷⁰ and 282 GPa ⁵⁴, respectively, are comparable with PAN based carbon fibre at 230-290 GPa ⁴⁸ attracting researchers to develop its potential for structural composites. Due to their small diameter, CNT fibres have higher surface area than carbon fibre, which potentially offers improved load transfer between filler and polymer. On the other hand, the poor penetration of polymer into the CNT fibres yields voids in the composites lowering its mechanical properties. The approaches to impregnate CNT fibres with polymer can be categorised by the time of polymer impregnation, which is before, during, and after CNT spinning. The CNT/BMI composite fibre, which the polymer impregnation occurred before fibre spinning, yielded the highest mechanical properties with the tensile strength and modulus of 4.5–6.94 GPa and 232– 315 GPa, respectively ⁸⁴. In additive manufacturing, the CNT/polyetherimide composite fibre was deployed as feedstock ²⁸⁷. The absence of additional polymer made the CNT/polyetherimide fibre more versatile than other conductive feedstock (e.g., conductive silver, chopped carbon fibre, CNT, and graphene). A group of researchers studied the utilisation of CNT/epoxy composite fibre for tension dominated applications such as composite overwrapped pressure vessels (COPVs)²⁸⁸, which usually used for maintaining pressure of cryogenic tank in space vehicle. Wet winding of CNT/epoxy composite fibre over aluminium rings resulted in a 209 % increase the hoop tensile properties and 10.8 % increase in weight relative to the bare ring, which was similar reinforcement as carbon fibre composites.

5.1.2. Electromagnetic interference (EMI) shielding

The electromagnetic interference (EMI) may disturb the signal of electronic devices and harmful for human health thus it must be shielded to prevent leakage of electromagnetic field radiation ²⁸⁹. As the device become smaller in recent years, shielding with minimal thickness and lightweight is desirable. The EMI shielding material should be a conductive and/or magnetic material to reflect, absorb, or scatter the electromagnetic radiation ²⁸⁶. Although metal has relatively high EMI shielding effectiveness (EMI SE), polymer nanocomposites are getting more attention due to its lightweight, high process-ability and nonsusceptible to corrosion. The recent development of EMI shielding materials is provided in Figure 11.



Figure 11. Comparison of electromagnetic interference shielding effectiveness (EMI SE) of various materials with its thickness ²⁸⁶. From Ref. ²⁸⁶. Reprinted with permission from AAAS.

The emerging materials, 2D transition metal carbides (MXenes), were exhibited excellent performance of EMI SE with minimum thickness. The EMI SE reached up to 92 dB for 45 micron pure Ti₃C₂T_x MXenes film (T stands for surface-terminating functional groups like -F, -OH, -O) ²⁸⁶. It can also be incorporated within polymer using nacre bio-mimetic synthesis method to induce flexibility. The EMI SE of Ti₃C₂T_x/sodium alginate (90:10) wt% composite was 57 dB at 8 micron, which was comparable to metal. However, the Young's modulus of Ti₃C₂T_x MXenes was only 0.33 ± 0.03 TPa ²⁹⁰, which was below graphene at ≈1 TPa ¹⁷. The rGO/calcium alginate (95:5) wt% exhibited 25.7 dB at 12 micron with 118 MPa and 4.6 MJ.m⁻³ for tensile strength and toughness, respectively ²⁹¹. Alternatively, ternary

composite of graphene, MXenes, and polymer can be synthesised for EMI shielding in the future.

5.1.3. Energy storage

According to Thomas *et al.* ²⁹², an electrode for energy storage should have certain properties such as high surface area, mechanical and chemical stability, electrical and ionic conductivity to fabricate high performance electrode. The excellent properties of high filler content polymer nanocomposites enabled its utilisation for supercapacitors ^{293,294}. Due to its conductivity and chemical stability, conducting polymers (e.g., polypyrrole (PPy), polyaniline (PANI), poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) (PEDOT)) become a suitable choice to be used as polymer binder for energy storage ²⁹⁵. Recent development of nanofiller/conducting polymer composite for energy storage is provided in Table 4.

Electrode	Electrolyte	Method	Specific or volumetric	Capacitance
materials			capacitance	retention
rGO/PANI (3:2)	1 M	Layer-by layer	736 F cm ⁻³ at 10 mV	86.6% after
layer ²⁹⁶	H_2SO_4	assembly	s ⁻¹	5000 cycles
CNT/PANI	1 M	In-situ electro-	359 F g ⁻¹ at 4.95 A g ⁻¹	80% after
(44:56) wt% ²⁹⁷	H_2SO_4	polymerisation		5000 cycles
f-CNT/PANI	0.5 M	In-situ	1065 F g ⁻¹ at 1 A g ⁻¹	92.2% after
(65:35) wt% ²⁹⁸	H_2SO_4	chemical		1000 cycles
		polymerisation		
rGO/CNT/PANI	0.1 M	Filler mixing	312.5 F g ⁻¹ at 0.1 A	94% after 25
(1:1:1) mass ratio	NaNO ₃		g ⁻¹	cycles
299				
rGO/CNT/PANI	1 M HCl	Filler mixing	569 F g^{-1} at 0.1 A g^{-1}	96% after
(60:9:31) wt% ³⁰⁰				5000 cycles

Table 4. Recent development of nanofiller/conducting polymer composites for supercapacitors

rGO/MnO ₂ /PANI	1 M	In-situ	512 F g^{-1} at 0.25 A g^{-1}	97% after
(10:70:20) wt%	Na ₂ SO ₄	chemical		5000 cycles
301		polymerisation		
rGO/MnO ₂ /PANI	1 M	In-situ	800.1 F g^{-1} at 0.4 A	71% after 800
(15:70:15) wt%	H_2SO_4	chemical	g ⁻¹	cycles
302		polymerisation		
		at oil-water		
		interface		
f-	0.5 M	In-situ	268 F g ⁻¹ at 5 mV s ⁻¹	90% after
CNT/MnO ₂ /PPy	Na_2SO_4	chemical		5000 cycles
(35:21:44) wt%		polymerisation		
303				
CNT/PPy fibre	1 M	In-situ electro-	350 F g ⁻¹ at 1 A g ⁻¹	88% after
(49:51) wt% ³⁰⁴	H_2SO_4	polymerisation		5000 cycles
CNT/PPy fibre	1 M	In-situ electro-	302 F g ⁻¹ at 1 A g ⁻¹	96% after
(50:50) wt% ³⁰⁵	H_2SO_4	polymerisation		5000 cycles
Ti ₃ C ₂ T _x /PPy	1 M	In-situ	1000 F cm ⁻³ or 416 F	92% after
(2:1) mass ratio	H_2SO_4	chemical	g^{-1} at 5 mV s^{-1}	25000 cycles
306		polymerisation		
MoS ₂ /PPy	1 M KCl	In-situ	695 F g ⁻¹ at 0.5 A g ⁻¹	85% after
(25.8:1) mass		chemical		4000 cycles
ratio ³⁰⁷		polymerisation		
V ₂ O ₅ /PPy	0.5 M	In-situ	308 F g ⁻¹ at 0.1 A g ⁻¹	95% after
(50:50) wt% ³⁰⁸	K_2SO_4	chemical		10000 cycles
		polymerisation		

f-CNT = functionalised CNT

For scaffold impregnation method, *in-situ* polymerisation was the common synthesis method to fabricate conducting polymer based composite. The polymerisation can be conducted either by the chemical reactions of monomer, dopant and oxidant at usually 0 °C or by electrochemical deposition of monomer and dopant ³⁰⁹. The functionalisation can be performed on the nanofiller improving the adsorption and dispersion of monomers on the

surface of the filler ^{298,303}. For filler mixing method, the hybrid nanofillers may increase the dispersion limit of the nanofiller. For example, carbon nanotube can be stabilised in polymer solution by the addition of graphene oxide enabling the fabrication of high filler content polymer composite ^{299,300}. The high filler content/conducting polymer composite exhibited promising result to be used as supercapacitor especially $Ti_3C_2T_x$ MXene/PPy, which showed the capacitance retention of 92% even after 25000 cycles ³⁰⁶. However, the researches on MXenes supercapacitor are still limited.

5.1.4. Sensors and actuators

The performance of polymer nanocomposite strain sensor should be stable during stretching as well as durable to stretching, bending, and folding. As discussed in sections 3 and 4, the high filler content polymer composite provides high tensile strength, toughness, and electrical conductivity, which is desirable properties for strain sensor. For example, the nacre inspired $Ti_3C_2T_x$ MXenes/Ag nanowire/polydopamine composite with Ni²⁺ ion crosslinker produced a stable relative resistance changes during 5000 stretch cycles of 0 to 60% strain with a sensitivity (gauge factor) of 1160.8 under 60% strain ³¹⁰. The non-covalent bonding (e.g., hydrogen bonding) of nacre composite can be altered by several stimuli such as photothermal ³¹¹, water ³¹², and alcohol ^{313,314} environments, which enable the composite to act as actuator to create certain shape. Driven by a humidity gradient, the moisture-responsive GO/chitosan demonstrated bending ability up to 180 °, which was also able to lift objects 50 times heavier and transporting cargos 10 times heavier than itself ³¹². By combination of folding and cutting, this shape memory properties may create a perpetual machine for biomedical tools and soft robotics ³¹⁵.

5.1.5. Thermal barriers

For thermal barrier applications, the nacre inspired ceramic based nanosheets, which have high thermal resistance, is very promising. The excellent fire resistance of "brick-andmortar" architecture of ceramic based polymer composites have been discussed in section 3.2. However, most of the nacre composites used flammable polymer such as polyvinyl alcohol or polyacrylic acid. The flame resistant of nacre can be further improved by choosing fire resistant polymer ²⁸⁵. For example, the micron thick montmorillonite/polyanion composite had better fire resistant than montmorillonite/polyvinyl alcohol, which was able to protect silk cocoon, which positioned 8 mm behind the composite, from ca. 2000 °C gas burner exposed to the other side of composite ²⁸⁵. The high content of montmorillonite based composite can be deployed as fire resistant coating of textiles ³¹⁶. Das et al. ³¹⁶ combined montmorillonite (MTM) with sodium carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) with the composition of 40/60 wt% to create 1-5 wt% slurry for dip coating the pure cotton textile. The nacre biomimetic coating of MTM/CMC was able to protect the cotton from the torch flame (ca. 1750 °C) at nearly 90° angle and 130 mm away from the sample without observable shrinkage. These flame retardant properties were attributed to tortuous pathway of oxygen diffusion within "brick and mortar" architecture, which the oxygen barrier properties observed was as low as 0.022 cm³.mm.m⁻².day⁻¹.atm⁻¹ at 50 % relative humidity ³¹⁶. The tortuous pathway of gas in nacre inspired polymer composites indicates its potential in gas barrier application.

5.1.6. Tissue engineering scaffolds or implants

High porosity, 3D foams can prove suitable as tissue engineering scaffolds. Graphene and carbon nanotubes are known to be biocompatible, aid neural growth, and support the adhesion and proliferation of bone cells ^{317,318}. Abarrategi *et al.* ¹⁶¹ synthesised the 3D carbon nanotube/chitosan foam scaffold by unidirectional freeze drying of dispersed CNT in chitosan solution. This technique was able to produce 3D foam with CNT content up to 89 wt%, which used to perform *in vitro* and *in vivo* evaluation for cell adhesion, viability and proliferation of

C2C12 cell line (myoblastic mouse cell). The micron size porosity enabled the infiltration of cell into the pore channels and the cell adsorption onto the surface. Besides carbon based polymer composite, the nanocellulose based polymer composites have tremendous potential in medical applications ³¹⁹. Due to its biodegradable nature, biocompatibility, and low cytotoxicity, the nanocellulose based composites was used as bio-ink to fabricate 3D bio-printed composite hydrogel implant for cartilage tissue engineering applications ^{283,320}. The nanofibrillated cellulose (NFC), which made through enzymatic hydrolysis, mechanical shearing, and high-pressure homogenization, was combined with alginate to 3D bio-print human chondrocytes with high fidelity and stability with the optimum compressive stiffness achieved at 70:30 wt% ratio of NFC and alginate ²⁸³. However, the nanofibrillated cellulose (NFC) obtained by TEMPO-oxidation was not stable as 3D bio-printed hydrogel due to water evaporation, requiring the addition of glycerine as high as 50 wt/vol% to stabilise the form at room temperature ³²¹.

5.2. Future applications

The development of carbon based polymer nanocomposite has dominated the utilisation of high filler content composites in diverse applications from tensioning cables, EMI shielding to electrical devices due to its high mechanical ^{2,17} and electrical properties ¹⁵. According to recent toxicity studies ^{322,323}, the nanosize carbonaceous materials may be harmful for human respiratory system which causes pulmonary inflammation and toxicity. The nanocellulose, which has biodegradable nature and less toxic, can be used as alternative for implant or tissue engineering scaffold although it may become toxic at very high dose of nanocellulose ³²⁴. Meanwhile, the high thermal resistance of inorganic filler aids the composite acting as a thermal barrier. This review provides several technique to synthesis high filler content composite, which may open new possibilities for the application of inorganic and nanocellulose based polymer composites. The 3D ternary composite foam can be synthesised to absorb and

degrade dye or organic pollutant ³²⁵, in which the hybrid strategy to disperse the carbon nanomaterials can be utilised. The non-enzymatic non-precious metal saccharide (e.g., glucose, fructose) sensor may benefit from the combination of metal oxides and conducting polymer. Some transition metal and its metal oxides, especially Cu-, Ni-, Co- based oxides, have attracted attention as glucose oxidation catalysts of high sensitivity ³²⁶. Several materials such as TiO₂ nanosheets ^{327,328} and conducting polymer (e.g., polyaniline) ³²⁹ can be used to bind the boronic acid moieties, which have a strong affinity towards polyols such as carbohydrates derivatives, making it a promising for saccharide and organic analysis. By combining metal oxide with conducting polymer and boronic acid, the charge carriers of the metal oxide will be improved and boronic acid functionalities may induce selective detection of saccharides. Moreover, the metal oxide gas sensor could be benefitted by the incorporation of conducting polymer as well to obtain reasonable conductance and speed of response and recovery time at lower operational temperature. One must note the dopant greatly influence the sensitivity of conducting polymer gas sensor ³³⁰. Careful selection of dopant and the conducting polymer should be performed to fabricate high quality metal oxide/conducting polymer composite gas sensor.

Despite the utilisation of nanocellulose-based hydrogel composite, the use of nanocellulose as filler in rigid polymer is limited due to poor dispersion of nanocellulose within the rigid polymer at high nanocellulose content. The mechanical properties of the nanocellulose/polymer composites was lower than its pure polymer at more than 20 vol% of nanocellulose ²⁶. Several attempts have been made to fabricate 1D nanocellulose yarn by wet and dry spinning of nanofibrillated cellulose (NFC) and regenerated cellulose ³³¹. The resulting 1D yarn of nanocellulose yielded a Young's modulus with the range of 8-23 GPa, while the cellulose crystal itself was estimated to be up to 160 GPa in the longitudinal direction ³³² and 8–57 GPa in the transverse direction ³³³. Further studies are needed to optimise the NFC aspect

ratio, solid content and shear rate of the spinneret, as well as additional drawing and stretching processes. The impregnation of polymer into the nanofibrillated cellulose (NFC) yarn may also facilitate stress transfer within fibres and imbues the NFC yarn with additional functionalities for example as bio-based structural material.

Generally, the nacre inspired nanocellulose composites involves additional carbon or clay based nanosheets as a "brick" structure to form "brick and mortar" architecture. There have been several attempts to synthesise cellulose nanosheets by a top-down approach (e.g., ball milling) ³³⁴ and bottom-up approach (e.g., polymer capped nanosheet synthesis) ³³⁵. The cellulose powders from cotton linters have been subjected to ball-mill with 10 mm zirconia balls in dry condition or with liquid such as water or PDMS silicone oil. The affinity of water and PDMS to specific plane in nanocellulose affected the resulting morphology, which are nanofibres for water and nanosheets for PDMS. The nanocelluloses were deformed with capping at (200) lattice plane forming nanosheets with 1-5 micron in lateral dimension and thickness around 5 nm. The polymer capping strategy can be deployed as well in enzymatic synthesis of cellulose via in vitro cellodextrin phosphorylase (CDP) mediated polymerization of α -D-glucose 1-phosphate (α G1P) using glucose or cellobiose as a primer. The vinylcellulose nanosheets created by the enzymatic synthesis exhibits elongated nanosheets with 5 nm thickness, ≈ 200 nm width and ≈ 500 nm length. These cellulose nanosheets could be used as "brick" in nacre inspired polymer composite. Although emerging materials, such as MXenes, have shown potential use in many applications, studies of high content MXenes/polymer composites are still limited. Approaches to synthesis high content polymer nanocomposite could realise novel applications of these emerging materials as alternative to CNT and graphene. A maximum potential reinforcement of nanoscale filler is expected without limitation in orientation, dispersion, and interfacial problems.

Acknowledgements

This research was partially supported by World Class University Program ITB decree number 237/SK/I1.B02/2018 and Indonesia Endowment Fund for Education (LPDP).

Conflicts of interest

There are no conflicts to declare

References

- 1 A. J. Crosby and J. Lee, *Polym. Rev.*, 2007, **47**, 217–229.
- 2 M.-F. Yu, O. Lourie, M. J. Dyer, K. Moloni, T. F. Kelly and R. S. Ruoff, *Science*, 2000, **287**, 637–640.
- 3 R. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Q. Zhang, H. Xie, W. Qian and F. Wei, *ACS Nano*, 2013, 7, 6156–6161.
- 4 L. Zhu, J. Wang and F. Ding, *ACS Nano*, 2016, **10**, 6410–6415.
- 5 J.-H. Du, J. Bai and H.-M. Cheng, *Express Polym. Lett.*, 2007, **1**, 253–273.
- 6 A. H. Barber, D. Lu and N. M. Pugno, J. R. Soc. Interface, 2015, 12, 1–6.
- S.-M. Yuen, C.-C. M. Ma, Y.-Y. Lin and H.-C. Kuan, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2007, 67, 2564–2573.
- 8 A. A. Koval'chuk, V. G. Shevchenko, A. N. Shchegolikhin, P. M. Nedorezova, A. N. Klyamkina and A. M. Aladyshev, *Macromolecules*, 2008, **41**, 7536–7542.
- 9 Y. Geng, M. Y. Liu, J. Li, X. M. Shi and J. K. Kim, *Compos. Part A Appl. Sci. Manuf.*, 2008, **39**, 1876–1883.
- 10 P. C. Ma, J.-K. Kim and B. Z. Tang, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2007, **67**, 2965–2972.
- 11 H. Judawisastra, C. Harito and A. H. D. Abdullah, *Macromol. Symp.*, 2015, **353**, 88–95.
- 12 H. Meng, G. X. Sui, P. F. Fang and R. Yang, *Polymer*, 2008, **49**, 610–620.
- 13 C. Mack, S. Sathyanarayana, P. Weiss, I. Mikonsaari, C. Hübner, F. Henning and P. Elsner, *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.*, 2012, **40**, 012020.
- 14 F. H. Gojny, M. H. G. Wichmann, U. Köpke, B. Fiedler and K. Schulte, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2004, **64**, 2363–2371.
- 15 A. K. Geim and K. S. Novoselov, *Nat. Mater.*, 2007, **6**, 183–191.
- 16 C. S. Boland, U. Khan, G. Ryan, S. Barwich, R. Charifou, A. Harvey, C. Backes, Z. Li, M. S. Ferreira, M. E. Möbius, R. J. Young and J. N. Coleman, *Science*, 2016, 354, 1257–1260.

- 17 C. Lee, X. Wei, J. W. Kysar and J. Hone, *Science*, 2008, **321**, 385–388.
- 18 L.-C. Tang, Y.-J. Wan, D. Yan, Y.-B. Pei, L. Zhao, Y.-B. Li, L.-B. Wu, J.-X. Jiang and G.-Q. Lai, *Carbon*, 2013, **60**, 16–27.
- 19 M. Naebe, J. Wang, A. Amini, H. Khayyam, N. Hameed, L. H. Li, Y. Chen and B. Fox, *Sci. Rep.*, 2014, **4**, 666–669.
- 20 A. Ashori, *Polym. Eng. Sci.*, 2014, **54**, 2258–2263.
- 21 Y. Zhang, S. Gong, Q. Zhang, P. Ming, S. Wan, J. Peng, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2016, **45**, 2378–2395.
- 22 I. Corni, T. J. Harvey, J. A. Wharton, K. R. Stokes, F. C. Walsh and R. J. K. Wood, *Bioinspir. Biomim.*, 2012, **7**, 031001.
- 23 S. Wan, J. Peng, Y. Li, H. Hu, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, ACS Nano, 2015, 9, 9830–9836.
- 24 Y.-H. Yang, L. Bolling, M. A. Priolo and J. C. Grunlan, Adv. Mater., 2013, 25, 503– 508.
- A. Walther, I. Bjurhager, J.-M. Malho, J. Ruokolainen, L. Berglund and O. Ikkala, *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, 2010, **49**, 6448–6453.
- 26 K.-Y. Lee, Y. Aitomäki, L. A. Berglund, K. Oksman and A. Bismarck, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2014, **105**, 15–27.
- 27 R. D. Preston, E. Nicolai, R. Reed and A. Millard, *Nature*, 1984, **162**, 665–667.
- 28 P. S. Belton, S. F. Tanner, N. Cartier and H. Chanzy, *Macromolecules*, 1989, **22**, 1615–1617.
- 29 A. F. Turbak, F. W. Snyder and K. R. Sandberg, in J. Appl. Polym. Sci.: Appl. Polym. Symp.; (United States), Syracuse, 1983, vol. 37.
- 30 G. Chinga-Carrasco, Nanoscale Res. Lett., 2011, 6, 417.
- 31 M. Iguchi, S. Yamanaka and A. Budhiono, J. Mater. Sci., 2000, 35, 261–270.
- 32 A. J. Brown, J. Chem. Soc., Trans., 1886, 49, 172–187.
- 33 R. Rusli and S. J. Eichhorn, Appl. Phys. Lett., 2008, 93, 033111.
- 34 Y.-C. Hsieh, H. Yano, M. Nogi and S. J. Eichhorn, *Cellulose*, 2008, **15**, 507–513.
- 35 A. Šturcová, G. R. Davies and S. J. Eichhorn, *Biomacromolecules*, 2005, 6, 1055– 1061.
- 36 M. Matsuo, C. Sawatari, Y. Iwai and F. Ozaki, *Macromolecules*, 1990, 23, 3266–3275.
- 37 I. Sakurada, Y. Nukushina and T. Ito, J. Polym. Sci., 1962, 57, 651–660.
- 38 J. E. Hall, *Textbook of Medical Physiology*, Saunders (W.B.) Co Ltd, Philadelphia, 12th edn., 2011.
- 39 R. Kane and P. X. Ma, *Mater. Today*, 2013, **16**, 418–423.

- 40 X. Sun, H. Sun, H. Li and H. Peng, *Adv. Mater.*, 2013, **25**, 5153–5176.
- 41 E. Mäder, J. Liu, J. Hiller, W. Lu, Q. Li, S. Zhandarov and T.-W. Chou, *Front. Mater.*, 2015, **2**, 53.
- 42 J. Chen, L. Wang, X. Gui, Z. Lin, X. Ke, F. Hao, Y. Li, Y. Jiang, Y. Wu, X. Shi and L. Chen, *Carbon*, 2017, **114**, 1–7.
- 43 M. B. Bryning, D. E. Milkie, M. F. Islam, L. A. Hough, J. M. Kikkawa and A. G. Yodh, *Adv. Mater.*, 2007, **19**, 661–664.
- 44 P. Das, J.-M. Malho, K. Rahimi, F. H. Schacher, B. Wang, D. E. Demco and A. Walther, *Nat. Commun.*, 2015, **6**, 1–14.
- 45 G.-S. Liou, P.-H. Lin, H.-J. Yen, Y.-Y. Yu, T.-W. Tsai, W.-C. Chen, Y. Li and T. J. White, *J. Mater. Chem.*, 2010, **20**, 531–536.
- 46 H. G. Chae and S. Kumar, *Science*, 2008, **319**, 908–909.
- 47 N. Behabtu, M. J. Green and M. Pasquali, *Nano Today*, 2008, **3**, 24–34.
- 48 Z. Xu and C. Gao, *Mater. Today*, 2015, **18**, 480–492.
- 49 Z. Xu and C. Gao, *Nat. Commun.*, 2011, **2**, 1–9.
- 50 Z. Xu, H. Sun, X. Zhao and C. Gao, *Adv. Mater.*, 2013, **25**, 188–193.
- 51 R. Jalili, S. H. Aboutalebi, D. Esrafilzadeh, R. L. Shepherd, J. Chen, S. Aminorroaya-Yamini, K. Konstantinov, A. I. Minett, J. M. Razal and G. G. Wallace, *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, 2013, 23, 5345–5354.
- 52 C. Xiang, C. C. Young, X. Wang, Z. Yan, C.-C. Hwang, G. Cerioti, J. Lin, J. Kono, M. Pasquali and J. M. Tour, *Adv. Mater.*, 2013, **25**, 4592–4597.
- 53 G. Xin, T. Yao, H. Sun, S. M. Scott, D. Shao, G. Wang and J. Lian, *Science*, 2015, 349, 1083–1087.
- 54 Z. Xu, Y. Liu, X. Zhao, L. Peng, H. Sun, Y. Xu, X. Ren, C. Jin, P. Xu, M. Wang, C. Gao, *Adv. Mater.*, 2016, 28, 6449–6456.
- 55 G. Huang, C. Hou, Y. Shao, H. Wang, Q. Zhang, Y. Li and M. Zhu, *Sci. Rep.*, 2015, **4**, 1–6.
- 56 C. Xiang, N. Behabtu, Y. Liu, H. G. Chae, C. C. Young, B. Genorio, D. E. Tsentalovich, C. Zhang, D. V. Kosynkin, J. R. Lomeda, C.-C. Hwang, S. Kumar, M. Pasquali and J. M. Tour, ACS Nano, 2013, 7, 1628–1637.
- 57 B. Vigolo, A. Pénicaud, C. Coulon, C. Sauder, R. Pailler, C. Journet, P. Bernier and P. Poulin, *Science*, 2000, **290**, 1331–1334.
- 58 B. Vigolo, P. Poulin, M. Lucas, P. Launois and P. Bernier, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 2002, **81**, 1210–1212.
- 59 M. E. Kozlov, R. C. Capps, W. M. Sampson, H. Ebron, J. P. Ferraris and R. H. Baughman, *Adv, Mater.*, 2005, **17**, 614–617.

- 60 L. M. Ericson, H. Fan, H. Peng, V. A. Davis, W. Zhou, J. Sulpizio, Y. Wang, R. Booker, J. Vavro, C. Guthy, A. N. G. Parra-Vasquez, M. J. Kim, S. Ramesh, R. K. Saini, C. Kittrell, G. Lavin, H. Schmidt, W. W. Adams, W. E. Billups, M. Pasquali, W.-F. Hwang, R. H. Hauge, J. E. Fischer and R. E. Smalley, *Science*, 2004, **305**, 1447–1450.
- 61 N. Behabtu, C. C. Young, D. E. Tsentalovich, O. Kleinerman, X. Wang, A. W. K. Ma, E. A. Bengio, R. F. ter Waarbeek, J. J. de Jong, R. E. Hoogerwerf, S. B. Fairchild, J. B. Ferguson, B. Maruyama, J. Kono, Y. Talmon, Y. Cohen, M. J. Otto and M. Pasquali, *Science*, 2013, **339**, 182–186.
- 62 Y.-L. Li, I. A. Kinloch and A. H. Windle, *Science*, 2004, **304**, 276–278.
- 63 K. Koziol, J. Vilatela, A. Moisala, M. Motta, P. Cunniff, M. Sennett and A. Windle, *Science*, 2007, **318**, 1892–1895.
- 64 J. N. Wang, X. G. Luo, T. Wu and Y. Chen, *Nat. Commun.*, 2014, 5, 4215–4219.
- 65 M. Motta, A. Moisala, I. A. Kinloch and A. H. Windle, *Adv. Mater.*, 2007, **19**, 3721–3726.
- 66 L. Ci, N. Punbusayakul, J. Wei, R. Vajtai, S. Talapatra and P. M. Ajayan, *Adv. Mater.*, 2007, **19**, 1719–1723.
- 67 A. E. Aliev, C. Guthy, M. Zhang, S. Fang, A. A. Zakhidov, J. E. Fischer and R. H. Baughman, *Carbon*, 2007, **45**, 2880–2888.
- 68 M. Zhang, K. R. Atkinson and R. H. Baughman, *Science*, 2004, **306**, 1358–1361.
- 69 X. Zhang, K. Jiang, C. Feng, P. Liu, L. Zhang, J. Kong, T. Zhang, Q. Li and S. Fan, *Adv. Mater.*, 2006, **18**, 1505–1510.
- 70 X. Zhang, Q. Li, Y. Tu, Y. Li, J. Y. Coulter, L. Zheng, Y. Zhao, Q. Jia, D. E. Peterson and Y. Zhu, *Small*, 2007, **3**, 244–248.
- 71 X. Zhang, Q. Li, T. G. Holesinger, P. N. Arendt, J. Huang, P. D. Kirven, T. G. Clapp, R. F. DePaula, X. Liao, Y. Zhao, L. Zheng, D. E. Peterson and Y. Zhu, *Adv. Mater.*, 2007, **19**, 4198–4201.
- 72 S. Wang, D. Haldane, R. Liang, J. Smithyman, C. Zhang and B. Wang, *Nanotechnology*, 2013, **24**, 015704.
- 73 Y. Liu and S. Kumar, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2014, 6, 6069–6087.
- 74 K. Song, Y. Zhang, J. Meng, E. C. Green, N. Tajaddod, H. Li and M. L. Minus, *Materials*, 2013, 6, 2543–2577.
- 75 E. Mäder, J. Liu, J. Hiller, W. Lu, Q. Li, S. Zhandarov and T.-W. Chou, *Front. Mater.*, 2015, **2**, 53.
- 76 M. Zu, Q. Li, Y. Zhu, M. Dey, G. Wang, W. Lu, J. M. Deitzel, J. W. Gillespie, J.-H. Byun and T.-W. Chou, *Carbon*, 2012, **50**, 1271–1279.
- 77 S. Li, X. Zhang, J. Zhao, F. Meng, G. Xu, Z. Yong, J. Jia, Z. Zhang and Q. Li, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2012, **72**, 1402–1407.

- 78 W. Ma, L. Liu, Z. Zhang, R. Yang, G. Liu, T. Zhang, X. An, X. Yi, Y. Ren, Z. Niu, J. Li, H. Dong, W. Zhou, P. M. Ajayan and S. Xie, *Nano Lett.*, 2009, 9, 2855–2861.
- 79 M. F. L. De Volder, S. J. Park, S. H. Tawfick, D. O. Vidaud and A. J. Hart, *J. Micromechanics Microengineering*, 2011, **21**, 045033.
- 80 J. Zhao, Q. Li, B. Gao, X. Wang, J. Zou, S. Cong, X. Zhang, Z. Pan and Q. Li, *Carbon*, 2016, **101**, 114–119.
- 81 S. Ryu, Y. Lee, J.-W. Hwang, S. Hong, C. Kim, T. G. Park, H. Lee and S. H. Hong, *Adv. Mater.*, 2011, **23**, 1971–1975.
- 82 M. J. Harrington, A. Masic, N. Holten-Andersen, J. H. Waite and P. Fratzl, *Science*, 2010, **328**, 216–220.
- 83 M. Le Wu, Y. Chen, L. Zhang, H. Zhan, L. Qiang and J. N. Wang, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2016, **8**, 8137–8144.
- 84 Y. Han, X. Zhang, X. Yu, J. Zhao, S. Li, F. Liu, P. Gao, Y. Zhang, T. Zhao and Q. Li, *Sci. Rep.*, 2015, **5**, 11533.
- 85 A. B. Dalton, S. Collins, E. Muñoz, J. M. Razal, V. H. Ebron, J. P. Ferraris, J. N. Coleman, B. G. Kim and R. H. Baughman, *Nature*, 2003, 423, 703.
- 86 S. Roy, V. Jain, R. Bajpai, P. Ghosh, A. S. Pente, B. P. Singh and D. S. Misra, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 2012, **116**, 19025–19031.
- 87 C.-N. Yeh, K. Raidongia, J. Shao, Q.-H. Yang and J. Huang, *Nat. Chem.*, 2015, **7**, 166–170.
- A. Liu, A. Walther, O. Ikkala, L. Belova and L. A. Berglund, *Biomacromolecules*, 2011, **12**, 633–641.
- 89 H. Zhu, Z. Fang, C. Preston, Y. Li and L. Hu, *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 2014, 7, 269–287.
- 90 H. Yano, J. Sugiyama, A. N. Nakagaito, M. Nogi, T. Matsuura, M. Hikita and K. Handa, *Adv. Mater.*, 2005, **17**, 153–155.
- D. A. Walters, M. J. Casavant, X. C. Qin, C. B. Huffman, P. J. Boul, L. M. Ericson, E. H. Haroz, M. J. O'Connell, K. Smith, D. T. Colbert and R. E. Smalley, *Chem. Phys. Lett.*, 2001, **338**, 14–20.
- 92 J. G. Park, J. Smithyman, C.-Y. Lin, A. Cooke, A. W. Kismarahardja, S. Li, R. Liang, J. S. Brooks, C. Zhang and B. Wang, J. Appl. Phys., 2009, 106, 104310.
- 93 D. Vennerberg and M. R. Kessler, *Carbon*, 2014, **80**, 433–439.
- 94 J. P. Lu, Phys. Rev. Lett., 1995, 74, 1123–1126.
- 95 Z.-M. Huang, Y.-Z. Zhang, M. Kotaki and S. Ramakrishna, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2003, **63**, 2223–2253.
- 96 M. Inagaki, Y. Yang and F. Kang, Adv. Mater., 2012, 24, 2547–2566.
- 97 D. Li and Y. Xia, *Nano Lett.*, 2003, **3**, 555–560.

- 98 W. E. Teo and S. Ramakrishna, *Nanotechnology*, 2006, **17**, R89–R106.
- I. Savva, E. Evaggelou, G. Papaparaskeva, T. Leontiou, T. Stylianopoulos, F. Mpekris,
 K. Stylianou and T. Krasia-Christoforou, *RSC Adv.*, 2015, 5, 104400–104407.
- 100 Y.-R. Huang, Y. Jiang, J. L. Hor, R. Gupta, L. Zhang, K. J. Stebe, G. Feng, K. T. Turner and D. Lee, *Nanoscale*, 2015, **7**, 798–805.
- 101 D. D. L. Chung, *Composite materials : science and applications*, Springer, 2010.
- 102 Z. Wang, Z. Liang, B. Wang, C. Zhang and L. Kramer, *Compos Part A Appl Sci Manuf*, 2004, **35**, 1225–1232.
- 103 W. Liu, X. Zhang, G. Xu, P. D. Bradford, X. Wang, H. Zhao, Y. Zhang, Q. Jia, F.-G. Yuan, Q. Li, Y. Qiu and Y. Zhu, *Carbon*, 2011, **49**, 4786–4791.
- 104 Y.-N. Liu, M. Li, Y. Gu, Y. Zhang, Q. Li and Z. Zhang, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2015, 117, 176–182.
- 105 Y.-N. Liu, M. Li, Y. Gu, K. Wang, D. Hu, Q. Li and Z. Zhang, *Carbon*, 2013, 65, 187–195.
- 106 Z. Jia, Z. Wang, C. Xu, J. Liang, B. Wei, D. Wu and S. Zhu, *Mater. Sci. Eng. A*, 1999, 271, 395–400.
- 107 C. G. Espinosa-González, F. J. Rodríguez-Macías, A. G. Cano-Márquez, J. Kaur, M. L. Shofner and Y. I. Vega-Cantú, J. Mater. Res., 2013, 28, 1087–1096.
- 108 K. Saeed, S.-Y. Park, S. Haider and J.-B. Baek, Nanoscale Res. Lett., 2009, 4, 39–46.
- 109 D.-W. Wang, F. Li, J. Zhao, W. Ren, Z.-G. Chen, J. Tan, Z.-S. Wu, I. Gentle, G. Q. Lu and H.-M. Cheng, *ACS Nano*, 2009, **3**, 1745–1752.
- F. Liang, J. M. Beach, K. Kobashi, A. K. Sadana, Y. I. Vega-Cantu, J. M. Tour and W. E. Billups, *Chem. Mater.*, 2006, 18, 4764–4767.
- 111 Z. Xu and C. Gao, *Macromolecules*, 2010, **43**, 6716–6723.
- 112 B. Yue, C. Wang, X. Ding and G. G. Wallace, *Electrochim. Acta*, 2012, **68**, 18–24.
- 113 A. G. MacDiarmid, Angew. Chemie Int. Ed., 2001, 40, 2581–2590.
- 114 B. Alshammary, F. C. Walsh, P. Herrasti and C. Ponce de Leon, *J. Solid State Electrochem.*, 2016, **20**, 839–859.
- 115 P. D. Bradford, X. Wang, H. Zhao, J.-P. Maria, Q. Jia and Y. T. Zhu, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2010, **70**, 1980–1985.
- 116 D. Wang, P. Song, C. Liu, W. Wu and S. Fan, *Nanotechnology*, 2008, **19**, 075609.
- 117 M. Elkington, D. Bloom, C. Ward, A. Chatzimichali and K. Potter, *Adv. Manuf. Polym. Compos. Sci.*, 2015, **1**, 138–151.
- 118 M. Mecklenburg, D. Mizushima, N. Ohtake, W. Bauhofer, B. Fiedler and K. Schulte, *Carbon*, 2015, **91**, 275–290.

- 119 F. Akhtar, L. Andersson, S. Ogunwumi, N. Hedin and L. Bergström, *J. Eur. Ceram. Soc.*, 2014, **34**, 1643–1666.
- 120 S. Deville, Adv. Eng. Mater., 2008, 10, 155–169.
- 121 W. Leitner, *Nature*, 2000, **405**, 129–130.
- 122 S.-H. Wu, C.-Y. Mou and H.-P. Lin, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2013, 42, 3862–3875.
- 123 A. H. Janssen, I. Schmidt, C. J. H. Jacobsen, A. J. Koster and K. P. De Jong, *Microporous mesoporous Mater.*, 2003, **65**, 59–75.
- 124 L. A. Bawazer, J. Ihli, M. A. Levenstein, L. J. C. Jeuken, F. C. Meldrum and D. G. G. McMillan, *J. Mater. Chem. B*, 2018, **6**, 3979–3988.
- 125 A. S. Schenk, S. Eiben, M. Goll, L. Reith, A. N. Kulak, F. C. Meldrum, H. Jeske, C. Wege and S. Ludwigs, *Nanoscale*, 2017, **9**, 6334–6345.
- 126 A. Ojuva, F. Akhtar, A. P. Tomsia and L. Bergström, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2013, **5**, 2669–2676.
- 127 X. Zhang, S. Heinonen and E. Levänen, *RSC Adv.*, 2014, 4, 61137–61152.
- 128 L. C. Hwa, S. Rajoo, A. M. Noor, N. Ahmad and M. B. Uday, *Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci.*, 2017, **21**, 323–347.
- 129 J. Maurath and N. Willenbacher, J. Eur. Ceram. Soc., 2017, 37, 4833–4842.
- 130 H. Wang, X. Zhang, N. Wang, Y. Li, X. Feng, Y. Huang, C. Zhao, Z. Liu, M. Fang, G. Ou, H. Gao, X. Li and H. Wu, *Sci. Adv.*, 2017, 3, e1603170.
- 131 X. Gui, H. Li, L. Zhang, Y. Jia, L. Liu, Z. Li, J. Wei, K. Wang, H. Zhu, Z. Tang, D. Wu and A. Cao, ACS Nano, 2011, 5, 4276–4283.
- 132 B. G. Choi, M. Yang, W. H. Hong, J. W. Choi and Y. S. Huh, *ACS Nano*, 2012, **6**, 4020–4028.
- 133 J. T. Korhonen, M. Kettunen, R. H. A. Ras and O. Ikkala, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2011, **3**, 1813–1816.
- 134 A. Hajian, S. B. Lindström, T. Pettersson, M. M. Hamedi and L. Wågberg, *Nano Lett.*, 2017, **17**, 1439–1447.
- 135 M. Jiang, H. Li, L. Zhou, R. Xing and J. Zhang, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2018, 10, 827–834.
- 136 X. Li, X. Yin, M. Han, C. Song, H. Xu, Z. Hou, L. Zhang and L. Cheng, *J. Mater. Chem. C*, 2017, **5**, 4068–4074.
- 137 J. Le Xie, C. X. Guo and C. M. Li, *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 2014, 7, 2559.
- 138 Y. Li, H. Zhu, S. Zhu, J. Wan, Z. Liu, O. Vaaland, S. Lacey, Z. Fang, H. Dai, T. Li and L. Hu, *NPG Asia Mater.*, 2015, **7**, e150–e150.
- 139 J. Balamurugan, T. D. Thanh, N. H. Kim and J. H. Lee, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2016, **4**, 9555–9565.

- 140 M. Kumar and Y. Ando, J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol., 2010, 10, 3739–3758.
- 141 X. Gui, J. Wei, K. Wang, A. Cao, H. Zhu, Y. Jia, Q. Shu and D. Wu, *Adv. Mater.*, 2010, **22**, 617–621.
- 142 M. Yu, H. H. Funke, J. L. Falconer and R. D. Noble, *Nano Lett.*, 2009, 9, 225–229.
- 143 H. Cebeci, R. Guzman De Villoria, A. J. Hart and B. L. Wardle, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2009, **69**, 2649–2656.
- 144 D. N. Futaba, K. Hata, T. Yamada, T. Hiraoka, Y. Hayamizu, Y. Kakudate, O. Tanaike, H. Hatori, M. Yumura and S. Iijima, *Nat. Mater.*, 2006, **5**, 987–994.
- 145 L. F. Dumée, K. Sears, J. A. Schütz, N. Finn, M. Duke, S. Mudie, N. Kirby and S. Gray, *J. Colloid Interface Sci.*, 2013, **407**, 556–560.
- 146 S. Li, X. Zhang, J. Zhao, F. Meng, G. Xu, Z. Yong, J. Jia, Z. Zhang and Q. Li, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2012, **72**, 1402–1407.
- 147 T. Wang, K. Jeppson and J. Liu, *Carbon*, 2010, **48**, 3795–3801.
- 148 W. Stöber and A. Fink, J. Colloid Interface Sci., 1968, 26, 62–69.
- 149 H. K. Schmidt, E. Geiter, M. Mennig, H. Krug, C. Becker and R.-P. Winkler, J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol., 1998, 13, 397–404.
- 150 S.-W. Kuo and F.-C. Chang, Prog. Polym. Sci., 2011, 36, 1649–1696.
- 151 Y. Y. Huang, S. V Ahir and E. M. Terentjev, *Phys. Rev. B*, 2006, 73, 125422.
- 152 M. Liu, C. Wu, Y. Jiao, S. Xiong and C. Zhou, *J. Mater. Chem. B*, 2013, **1**, 2078–2089.
- 153 C. Harito, R. Porras, D. V. Bavykin and F. C. Walsh, *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, 2016, **133**, 44641.
- 154 S. Jain, J. G. P. Goossens, G. W. M. Peters, M. van Duin and P. J. Lemstra, *Soft Matter*, 2008, **4**, 1848.
- 155 Q. Zhang, D. R. Lippits and S. Rastogi, *Macromolecules*, 2005, 39, 658–666.
- 156 M. Liu, Z. Jia, D. Jia and C. Zhou, *Prog. Polym. Sci.*, 2014, **39**, 1498–1525.
- 157 T. Baati, B. B. Kefi, A. Aouane, L. Njim, F. Chaspoul, V. Heresanu, A. Kerkeni, F. Neffati and M. Hammami, *RSC Adv.*, 2016, **6**, 101688–101696.
- 158 M. Š. Upová, J Mater Sci Mater Med, 2009, 20, 1201–1213.
- 159 W. Jie and L. Yubao, *Eur. Polym. J.*, 2004, **40**, 509–515.
- 160 L.-Z. Guan, L. Zhao, Y.-J. Wan and L.-C. Tang, *Nanoscale*, 2018, **10**, 14788–14811.
- 161 A. Abarrategi, M. C. Gutiérrez, C. Moreno-Vicente, M. J. Hortigüela, V. Ramos, J. L. López-Lacomba, M. L. Ferrer and F. del Monte, *Biomaterials*, 2008, **29**, 94–102.
- 162 J. Wang, Q. Cheng and Z. Tang, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2012, **41**, 1111–1129.

- 163 T.-H. Lin, W.-H. Huang, I.-K. Jun and P. Jiang, *Electrochem. commun.*, 2009, **11**, 1635–1638.
- 164 T.-H. Lin, W.-H. Huang, I.-K. Jun and P. Jiang, *Electrochem. commun.*, 2009, **11**, 14–17.
- 165 B. Long, C.-A. Wang, W. Lin, Y. Huang and J. Sun, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2007, **67**, 2770–2774.
- 166 S. Wan, H. Hu, J. Peng, Y. Li, Y. Fan, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, *Nanoscale*, 2016, **8**, 5649–5656.
- 167 N. Almqvist, N. H. Thomson, B. L. Smith, G. D. Stucky, D. E. Morse and P. K. Hansma, *Mater. Sci. Eng. C*, 1999, **7**, 37–43.
- 168 H. Zhao, Y. Yue, Y. Zhang, L. Li and L. Guo, *Adv. Mater.*, 2016, **28**, 2037–2042.
- 169 J. Duan, S. Gong, Y. Gao, X. Xie, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2016, 8, 10545–10550.
- 170 B. Yuan, C. Bao, X. Qian, S. Jiang, P. Wen, W. Xing, L. Song, K. M. Liew and Y. Hu, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2014, **53**, 1143–1149.
- 171 X. Huang, C. Zhi and P. Jiang, J. Phys. Chem. C, 2012, 116, 23812–23820.
- 172 X. Zhang, J. Wang, J. Liu, J. Wu, H. Chen and H. Bi, *Carbon*, 2017, **115**, 134–146.
- 173 X. Xia, Q. Hao, W. Lei, W. Wang, D. Sun and X. Wang, *J. Mater. Chem.*, 2012, **22**, 16844.
- 174 L. Ci and J. Bai, *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 2006, **66**, 599–603.
- 175 H. Kim, Y. Miura and C. W. Macosko, *Chem. Mater.*, 2010, **22**, 3441–3450.
- 176 S. Wan, Y. Li, J. Peng, H. Hu, Q. Cheng and L. Jiang, ACS Nano, 2015, 9, 708–714.
- D. G. Papageorgiou, I. A. Kinloch and R. J. Young, *Prog. Mater. Sci.*, 2017, 90, 75–127.
- 178 R. O. Ritchie, *Nat. Mater.*, 2011, **10**, 817–822.
- 179 S. Wan, Y. Li, J. Mu, A. E. Aliev, S. Fang, N. A. Kotov, L. Jiang, Q. Cheng and R. H. Baughman, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 2018, **115**, 5359–5364.
- 180 S. Gong, W. Cui, Q. Zhang, A. Cao, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, ACS Nano, 2015, 9, 11568–11573.
- 181 S. Gong, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, J. Mater. Chem. A, 2016, 4, 17073–17079.
- 182 M. Lian, J. Fan, Z. Shi, S. Zhang, H. Li and J. Yin, *Carbon*, 2015, **89**, 279–289.
- 183 S. Wan, J. Peng, Y. Li, H. Hu, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, ACS Nano, 2015, 9, 9830–9836.
- 184 Y. Cheng, J. Peng, H. Xu and Q. Cheng, Adv. Funct. Mater., 2018, 28, 1800924.
- 185 P. Song, Z. Xu, Y. Wu, Q. Cheng, Q. Guo and H. Wang, *Carbon*, 2017, **111**, 807–812.

- 186 N. Zhao, M. Yang, Q. Zhao, W. Gao, T. Xie and H. Bai, ACS Nano, 2017, 11, 4777– 4784.
- 187 P. Ming, Z. Song, S. Gong, Y. Zhang, J. Duan, Q. Zhang, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, J. Mater. Chem. A, 2015, 3, 21194–21200.
- 188 Y. Wang, H. Yuan, P. Ma, H. Bai, M. Chen, W. Dong, Y. Xie and Y. S. Deshmukh, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2017, **9**, 4215–4222.
- 189 Y. Wang, T. Li, P. Ma, S. Zhang, H. Zhang, M. Du, Y. Xie, M. Chen, W. Dong and W. Ming, ACS Nano, 2018, 12, 6228–6235.
- 190 M. Zhang, L. Huang, J. Chen, C. Li and G. Shi, Adv. Mater., 2014, 26, 7588–7592.
- 191 S. Wan, Y. Li, J. Peng, H. Hu, Q. Cheng and L. Jiang, ACS Nano, 2015, 9, 708–714.
- 192 S. Gong, Q. Zhang, R. Wang, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2017, **5**, 16386–16392.
- 193 Q. Zhang, S. Wan, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, *Sci. China Technol. Sci.*, 2017, **60**, 758–764.
- 194 S. Song, Y. Zhai and Y. Zhang, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2016, 8, 31264–31272.
- 195 C.-T. Chen, F. J. Martin-Martinez, S. Ling, Z. Qin and M. J. Buehler, *Nano Futur.*, 2017, **1**, 011003.
- 196 W. Cui, M. Li, J. Liu, B. Wang, C. Zhang, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, ACS Nano, 2014, 8, 9511–9517.
- 197 Y. Wu, R. Cao, G. Wu, W. Huang, Z. Chen, X. Yang and Y. Tu, *Compos. Part A Appl. Sci. Manuf.*, 2016, **88**, 156–164.
- 198 K. Hu, L. S. Tolentino, D. D. Kulkarni, C. Ye, S. Kumar and V. V. Tsukruk, *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, 2013, **52**, 13784–13788.
- 199 K. Wu, Z. Song, L. He and Y. Ni, *Nanoscale*, 2018, **10**, 556–565.
- 200 E. Gao, Y. Cao, Y. Liu and Z. Xu, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2017, 9, 24830–24839.
- 201 K. Chen, X. Tang, Y. Yue, H. Zhao and L. Guo, ACS Nano, 2016, 10, 4816–4827.
- 202 H. Ni, F. Xu, A. P. Tomsia, E. Saiz, L. Jiang and Q. Cheng, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2017, **9**, 24987–24992.
- 203 S. Gong and Q. Cheng, *Compos. Commun.*, 2018, 7, 16–22.
- 204 V. Babrauskas and R. D. Peacock, *Fire Saf. J.*, 1992, **18**, 255–272.
- 205 J. Lefebvre, M. le Bras, B. Bastin, R. Paleja and R. Delobel, *J. Fire Sci.*, 2003, **21**, 343–367.
- 206 X.-C. Wang, T. Geng, J. Han, C.-T. Liu, C.-Y. Shen, L.-S. Turng and H. E. Yang, *Polym. Compos.*, 2018, **39**, E1429–E1440.

- 207 Z. Xu, X. Tang and J. Zheng, *Polym. Plast. Technol. Eng.*, 2008, **47**, 1136–1141.
- 208 A. B. Morgan, L.-L. Chu and J. D. Harris, *Fire Mater.*, 2005, **29**, 213–229.
- 209 Y. Gao, J. Wu, Q. Wang, C. A. Wilkie and D. O'Hare, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2014, **2**, 10996.
- 210 J. Zhang, Q. Kong, L. Yang and D.-Y. Wang, *Green Chem.*, 2016, **18**, 3066–3074.
- 211 H. Xie, X. Lai, Y. Wang, H. Li and X. Zeng, J. Hazard. Mater., 2019, 365, 125–136.
- 212 Y. S. Kim, Y.-C. Li, W. M. Pitts, M. Werrel and R. D. Davis, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2014, 6, 2146–2152.
- 213 D. Patra, P. Vangal, A. A. Cain, C. Cho, O. Regev and J. C. Grunlan, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2014, **6**, 16903–16908.
- 214 P. Das, H. Thomas, M. Moeller and A. Walther, *Sci. Rep.*, 2017, 7, 39910.
- 215 J. Hone, in *Carbon Nanotubes. Topics in Applied Physics*, ed. A. P. Dresselhaus M.S., Dresselhaus G., Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2001, pp. 273–286.
- 216 S. K. Jaćimovski, M. Bukurov, J. P. Šetrajčić and D. I. Raković, *Superlattices Microstruct.*, 2015, **88**, 330–337.
- 217 C. Huang, X. Qian and R. Yang, Mater. Sci. Eng. R Reports, 2018, 132, 1–22.
- 218 K. Pietrak and T. S. Wiśniewski, J. Power Technol., 2015, 95, 14–24.
- 219 C.-C. Teng, C.-C. M. Ma, C.-H. Lu, S.-Y. Yang, S.-H. Lee, M.-C. Hsiao, M.-Y. Yen, K.-C. Chiou and T.-M. Lee, *Carbon*, 2011, **49**, 5107–5116.
- 220 A. H. Aref, H. Erfan-Niya and A. A. Entezami, J. Mater. Sci., 2016, 51, 6824–6835.
- 221 Z. Zabihi and H. Araghi, *Phys. Lett. A*, 2016, **380**, 3828–3831.
- 222 R. Gulotty, M. Castellino, P. Jagdale, A. Tagliaferro and A. A. Balandin, *ACS Nano*, 2013, **7**, 5114–5121.
- 223 X. Xu, J. Chen, J. Zhou and B. Li, Adv. Mater., 2018, 30, 1705544.
- 224 E. Mayhew and V. Prakash, J. Appl. Phys., 2014, 115, 174306.
- 225 Z. Ma, Z. Guo, H. Zhang and T. Chang, *AIP Adv.*, 2017, 7, 065104.
- 226 S. Pichot, V. Zakri, C. Poulin, P. Launois, P. Vavro, J. Guthy, C. Chen and M. Fischer, *J. Appl. Phys.*, 2004, **96**, 7509–7513.
- 227 Y. Wang, H. Yuan, P. Ma, H. Bai, M. Chen, W. Dong, Y. Xie and Y. S. Deshmukh, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2017, **9**, 4215–4222.
- 228 N. Shenogina, S. Shenogin, L. Xue and P. Keblinski, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 2005, **87**, 133106.
- 229 G. M. Nasr, A. S. Abd El -Haleem, A. Klingner, A. M. Alnozahy and Mh. Mourad, Journal of Multidisciplinary Engineering Science and Technology (JMEST), 2015, 2,

884-889.

- 230 K. Liu, Y. Sun, X. Lin, R. Zhou, J. Wang, S. Fan and K. Jiang, *ACS Nano*, 2010, **4**, 5827–5834.
- 231 J.-H. Du, J. Bai and H.-M. Cheng, *eXPRESS Polym. Lett.*, 2007, 1, 253–273.
- 232 M. Liu, Y. Ishida, Y. Ebina, T. Sasaki and T. Aida, *Nat. Commun.*, 2013, 4, 743–756.
- 233 Z. Ni, H. Bu, M. Zou, H. Yi, K. Bi and Y. Chen, *Phys. B Condens. Matter*, 2010, **405**, 1301–1306.
- 234 S. Ahadian, J. Ramón-Azcón, M. Estili, X. Liang, S. Ostrovidov, H. Shiku, M. Ramalingam, K. Nakajima, Y. Sakka, H. Bae, T. Matsue and A. Khademhosseini, *Sci. Rep.*, 2014, 4, 1345–1360.
- 235 B. Essedik Belkerk, A. Achour, D. Zhang, S. Sahli, M.-A. Djouadi and Y. Khin Yap, *Appl. Phys. Express*, 2016, **9**, 075002.
- 236 L. M. C. Dykes, J. M. Torkelson, W. R. Burghardt and R. Krishnamoorti, *Polymer*, 2010, **51**, 4916–4927.
- C. Harito, D. V. Bavykin, M. E. Light and F. C. Walsh, *Compos. Part B Eng.*, 2017, 124, 54–63.
- 238 R. J. Davies, C. Riekel, K. K. Koziol, J. J. Vilatela and A. H. Windle, *J. Appl. Crystallogr.*, 2009, **42**, 1122–1128.
- 239 H. Yang, B. Fu, D. Li, Y. Tian, Y. Chen, M. Mattila, Z. Yong, R. Li, A. Hassanien, C. Yang, I. Tittonen, Z. Ren, J. Bai, Q. Li, E. I. Kauppinen, H. Lipsanen and Z. Sun, *Nanoscale*, 2015, 7, 11199–11205.
- 240 J. J. Kochumalayil, S. Morimune, T. Nishino, O. Ikkala, A. Walther and L. A. Berglund, *Biomacromolecules*, 2013, **14**, 3842–3849.
- 241 A. I. Alateyah, H. N. Dhakal and Z. Y. Zhang, Am. J. Polym. Sci., 2014, 4, 1–6.
- 242 T. Sasaki and M. Watanabe, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1998, **120**, 4682–4689.
- 243 L. Li, R. Ma, Y. Ebina, N. Iyi and T. Sasaki, *Chem. Mater.*, 2005, **17**, 4386–4391.
- 244 J. I. Paredes, S. Villar-Rodil, A. Martínez-Alonso and J. M. D. Tascón, *Langmuir*, 2008, **24**, 10560–10564.
- A. Liang, X. Jiang, X. Hong, Y. Jiang, Z. Shao, D. Zhu, A. Liang, X. Jiang, X. Hong, Y. Jiang, Z. Shao and D. Zhu, *Coatings*, 2018, 8, 33.
- 246 M. S. Ata, R. Poon, A. M. Syed, J. Milne and I. Zhitomirsky, *Carbon*, 2018, **130**, 584– 598.
- 247 P.-C. Ma, N. A. Siddiqui, G. Marom and J.-K. Kim, *Compos. Part A*, 2010, **41**, 1345–1367.
- 248 Y. S. Yun, Y. H. Bae, D. H. Kim, J. Y. Lee, I.-J. Chin and H.-J. Jin, *Carbon*, 2011, **49**, 3553–3559.

- 249 P. Song, Z. Cao, Y. Cai, L. Zhao, Z. Fang and S. Fu, *Polymer*, 2011, **52**, 4001–4010.
- 250 Y. Huang, Y. Qin, Y. Zhou, H. Niu, Z.-Z. Yu and J.-Y. Dong, *Chem. Mater.*, 2010, **22**, 4096–4102.
- 251 R. A. Vaia, H. Ishii and E. P. Giannelis, *Chem. Mater.*, 1993, **5**, 1694–1696.
- 252 J. Liu, Y. Gao, D. Cao, L. Zhang and Z. Guo, *Langmuir*, 2011, **27**, 7926–7933.
- 253 J. Kim, L. J. Cote, F. Kim, W. Yuan, K. R. Shull and J. Huang, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 2010, **132**, 8180–8186.
- 254 L. Liu and J. C. Grunlan, Adv. Funct. Mater., 2007, 17, 2343–2348.
- 255 C. Tang, G. Long, X. Hu, K. Wong, W. Lau, M. Fan, J. Mei, T. Xu, B. Wang and D. Hui, *Nanoscale*, 2014, **6**, 7877–7888.
- L. Liu, Y. Wang, S. Alhassan, H. Sun, K. Choi, C. Yu, D. Schiraldi, L. Liu, Y. Wang,S. M. Alhassan, H. Sun, K. Choi, C. Yu and D. A. Schiraldi, *Gels*, 2018, 4, 8.
- 257 A. Rostampour, M. Sharif and N. Mouji, *Polym. Plast. Technol. Eng.*, 2017, **56**, 171–183.
- 258 Y. Wen, M. Wu, M. Zhang, C. Li and G. Shi, Adv. Mater., 2017, 29, 1702831.
- 259 Q. Zhang, F. Fang, X. Zhao, Y. Li, M. Zhu and D. Chen, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 2008, **112**, 12606–12611.
- 260 M. E. Mackay, T. T. Dao, A. Tuteja, D. L. Ho, B. Van Horn, H.-C. Kim and C. J. Hawker, *Nat. Mater.*, 2003, **2**, 762–766.
- 261 J. T. Kalathi, G. S. Grest and S. K. Kumar, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 2012, **109**, 198301.
- A. Tuteja, M. E. Mackay, C. J. Hawker and B. Van Horn, *Macromolecules*, 2005, **38**, 8000–8011.
- 263 M. Wang and R. J. Hill, *Soft Matter*, 2009, **5**, 3940–3953.
- 264 X.-F. Pan, H.-L. Gao, Y. Lu, C.-Y. Wu, Y.-D. Wu, X.-Y. Wang, Z.-Q. Pan, L. Dong, Y.-H. Song, H.-P. Cong and S.-H. Yu, *Nat. Commun.*, 2018, **9**, 2974.
- 265 A. Hirsch, Angew. Chemie Int. Ed., 2002, 41, 1853.
- 266 Y. Wang, C. Yang, Q.-X. Pei and Y. Zhang, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2016, **8**, 8272–8279.
- 267 J. Chen, B. Liu, X. Gao and D. Xu, *RSC Adv.*, 2018, **8**, 28048–28085.
- 268 J. M. Salazar-Rios, W. Talsma, V. Derenskyi, W. Gomulya, T. Keller, M. Fritsch, S. Kowalski, E. Preis, M. Wang, S. Allard, G. C. Bazan, U. Scherf, M. C. dos Santos and M. A. Loi, *Small Methods*, 2018, 2, 1700335.
- 269 S. S. Tallury and M. A. Pasquinelli, J. Phys. Chem. B, 2010, 114, 4122–4129.
- 270 V. Derenskyi, W. Gomulya, J. Gao, S. Z. Bisri, M. Pasini, Y.-L. Loo and M. A. Loi, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 2018, **112**, 072106.

- 271 H. D. Wagner and R. A. Vaia, *Mater. Today*, 2004, 7, 38–42.
- 272 X. Wang, J. Peng, Y. Zhang, M. Li, E. Saiz, A. P. Tomsia and Q. Cheng, ACS Nano, 2018, 12, 12638–12645.
- I. H. Kim, T. Yun, J.-E. Kim, H. Yu, S. P. Sasikala, K. E. Lee, S. H. Koo, H. Hwang,
 H. J. Jung, J. Y. Park, H. S. Jeong and S. O. Kim, *Adv. Mater.*, 2018, **30**, 1803267.
- 274 D. V. Bavykin, L. Passoni and F. C. Walsh, *Chem. Commun.*, 2013, **49**, 7007.
- 275 A. S. Martins, C. Harito, D. V. Bavykin, F. C. Walsh and M. R. V Lanza, *J. Mater. Chem. C*, 2017, **5**, 3955–3961.
- 276 H. Huang, Y. Wang, C. Zou, J. Tao, D. Qu, X. Ma, P. Liu, Y. Wan and Y. Xu, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 2015, **119**, 17552–17560.
- 277 Z. Lian, W. Wang, S. Xiao, X. Li, Y. Cui, D. Zhang, G. Li and H. Li, *Sci. Rep.*, **5**, 10461.
- 278 Z. Liu, Z. Xu, X. Hu and C. Gao, *Macromolecules*, 2013, 46, 6931–6941.
- 279 X. Zhao, Z. Xu, B. Zheng and C. Gao, *Sci. Rep.*, 2013, **3**, 3164.
- 280 X. Hu, Z. Xu, Z. Liu and C. Gao, *Sci. Rep.*, 2013, **3**, 2374.
- 281 C. Meng, C. Liu, L. Chen, C. Hu and S. Fan, *Nano Lett.*, 2010, **10**, 4025–4031.
- 282 Y. Hu, T. Lan, G. Wu, Z. Zhu and W. Chen, *Nanoscale*, 2014, **6**, 12703–12709.
- 283 K. Markstedt, A. Mantas, I. Tournier, H. Martínez Ávila, D. Hägg and P. Gatenholm, *Biomacromolecules*, 2015, **16**, 1489–1496.
- 284 H. Cheng, C. Hu, Y. Zhao and L. Qu, NPG Asia Mater., 2014, 6, e113–e113.
- A. Walther, I. Bjurhager, J.-M. Malho, J. Ruokolainen, L. Berglund and O. Ikkala, *Angew. Chemie Int. Ed.*, 2010, **49**, 6448–6453.
- 286 F. Shahzad, M. Alhabeb, C. B. Hatter, B. Anasori, S. Man Hong, C. M. Koo and Y. Gogotsi, *Science*, 2016, **353**, 1137–1140.
- 287 J. M. Gardner, G. Sauti, J.-W. Kim, R. J. Cano, R. A. Wincheski, C. J. Stelter, B. W. Grimsley, D. C. Working and E. J. Siochi, *Addit. Manuf.*, 2016, **12**, 38–44.
- 288 J.-W. Kim, G. Sauti, R. J. Cano, R. A. Wincheski, J. G. Ratcliffe, M. Czabaj, N. W. Gardner and E. J. Siochi, *Compos. Part A Appl. Sci. Manuf.*, 2016, **84**, 256–265.
- 289 A. H. Frey, *Environ. Health Perspect.*, 1998, **106**, 101–103.
- 290 A. Lipatov, H. Lu, M. Alhabeb, B. Anasori, A. Gruverman, Y. Gogotsi and A. Sinitskii, *Sci. Adv.*, 2018, **4**, eaat0491.
- 291 L.-C. Jia, W.-J. Sun, C.-G. Zhou, D.-X. Yan, Q.-C. Zhang and Z.-M. Li, *J. Mater. Chem. C*, 2018, **6**, 9166–9174.
- 292 Z. Yu, L. Tetard, L. Zhai and J. Thomas, *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 2015, **8**, 702–730.
- C. Choi, J. W. Park, K. J. Kim, D. W. Lee, M. J. de Andrade, S. H. Kim, S. Gambhir, G. M. Spinks, R. H. Baughman and S. J. Kim, *RSC Adv.*, 2018, 8, 13112–13120.
- 294 Z. Ling, C. E. Ren, M.-Q. Zhao, J. Yang, J. M. Giammarco, J. Qiu, M. W. Barsoum and Y. Gogotsi, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 2014, **111**, 16676–16681.
- 295 G. A. Snook, P. Kao and A. S. Best, J. Power Sources, 2011, **196**, 1–12.
- 296 Z.-S. Wu, K. Parvez, S. Li, S. Yang, Z. Liu, S. Liu, X. Feng and K. Müllen, *Adv. Mater.*, 2015, **27**, 4054–4061.
- 297 R. Malik, L. Zhang, C. McConnell, M. Schott, Y.-Y. Hsieh, R. Noga, N. T. Alvarez and V. Shanov, *Carbon*, 2017, **116**, 579–590.
- 298 Y. Yang, Y. Hao, J. Yuan, L. Niu and F. Xia, *Carbon*, 2014, **78**, 279–287.
- 299 M. S. Kumar, K. Y. Yasoda, S. K. Batabyal and N. K. Kothurkar, *Mater. Res. Express*, 2018, **5**, 045505.
- 300 X. Lu, H. Dou, S. Yang, L. Hao, L. Zhang, L. Shen, F. Zhang and X. Zhang, *Electrochim. Acta*, 2011, **56**, 9224–9232.
- 301 G. Han, Y. Liu, L. Zhang, E. Kan, S. Zhang, J. Tang and W. Tang, *Sci. Rep.*, 2015, **4**, 4824.
- 302 K. Li, D. Guo, J. Chen, Y. Kong and H. Xue, Synth. Met., 2015, 209, 555–560.
- 303 R. K. Sharma, A. Karakoti, S. Seal and L. Zhai, *J. Power Sources*, 2010, **195**, 1256–1262.
- 304 R. Xu, J. Wei, F. Guo, X. Cui, T. Zhang, H. Zhu, K. Wang and D. Wu, *RSC Adv.*, 2015, **5**, 22015–22021.
- 305 F. M. Guo, R. Q. Xu, X. Cui, L. Zhang, K. L. Wang, Y. W. Yao and J. Q. Wei, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2016, **4**, 9311–9318.
- 306 M. Boota, B. Anasori, C. Voigt, M.-Q. Zhao, M. W. Barsoum and Y. Gogotsi, *Adv. Mater.*, 2016, **28**, 1517–1522.
- 307 H. Tang, J. Wang, H. Yin, H. Zhao, D. Wang and Z. Tang, *Adv. Mater.*, 2015, **27**, 1117–1123.
- 308 Q. Qu, Y. Zhu, X. Gao and Y. Wu, Adv. Energy Mater., 2012, 2, 950–955.
- 309 A. Afzal, F. A. Abuilaiwi, A. Habib, M. Awais, S. B. Waje and M. A. Atieh, *J. Power Sources*, 2017, **352**, 174–186.
- 310 X. Shi, H. Wang, X. Xie, Q. Xue, J. Zhang, S. Kang, C. Wang, J. Liang and Y. Chen, *ACS Nano*, 2019, **13**, 649–659.
- 311 B. Zhu, M. Noack, R. Merindol, C. Barner-Kowollik and A. Walther, *Nano Lett.*, 2016, **16**, 5176–5182.
- 312 Y. Zhang, H. Jiang, F. Li, Y. Xia, Y. Lei, X. Jin, G. Zhang and H. Li, *J. Mater. Chem. A*, 2017, **5**, 14604–14610.

- 313 S. Liu, F. Yao, O. Oderinde, K. Li, H. Wang, Z. Zhang and G. Fu, *Chem. Eng. J.*, 2017, **321**, 502–509.
- 314 B. Liang, H. Zhao, Q. Zhang, Y. Fan, Y. Yue, P. Yin and L. Guo, *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, 2016, **8**, 28816–28823.
- 315 L. Xu, T. C. Shyu and N. A. Kotov, ACS Nano, 2017, **11**, 7587–7599.
- 316 P. Das, H. Thomas, M. Moeller and A. Walther, *Sci. Rep.*, 2017, **7**, 39910.
- 317 S. L. Edwards, J. A. Werkmeister and J. A. Ramshaw, *Expert Rev. Med. Devices*, 2009, **6**, 499–505.
- G. M. D'Abaco, C. Mattei, B. Nasr, E. J. Hudson, A. J. Alshawaf, G. Chana, I. Everall, B. A. Nayagam, Mi. Dottori and E. Skafidas, *R. Soc. Open Sci.*, 2018, 5, 171364-1-171364–11.
- 319 N. Lin and A. Dufresne, *Eur. Polym. J.*, 2014, **59**, 302–325.
- 320 C. C. Piras, S. Fernández-Prieto and W. M. De Borggraeve, *Biomater. Sci.*, 2017, **5**, 1988–1992.
- 321 J. Leppiniemi, P. Lahtinen, A. Paajanen, R. Mahlberg, S. Metsä-Kortelainen, T. Pinomaa, H. Pajari, I. Vikholm-Lundin, P. Pursula and V. P. Hytönen, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2017, 9, 21959–21970.
- 322 M. Ema, M. Gamo and K. Honda, *Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol.*, 2017, 85, 7–24.
- 323 N. Kobayashi, H. Izumi and Y. Morimoto, J. Occup. Health, 2017, 59, 394–407.
- 324 C. Endes, S. Camarero-Espinosa, S. Mueller, E. J. Foster, A. Petri-Fink, B. Rothen-Rutishauser, C. Weder and M. J. D. Clift, *J. Nanobiotechnology*, 2016, **14**, 78.
- 325 S. Z. J. Zaidi, C. Harito, F. C. Walsh and C. Ponce de León, *J. Solid State Electrochem.*, 2018, **22**, 2889–2900.
- 326 D.-W. Hwang, S. Lee, M. Seo and T. D. Chung, Anal. Chim. Acta, 2018, 1033, 1–34.
- 327 W. T. Wahyuni, B. R. Putra, C. Harito, D. V. Bavykin, F. C. Walsh, P. J. Fletcher and F. Marken, *Anal. Chim. Acta X*, 2018, DOI: <u>10.1016/j.acax.2018.100001</u>.
- 328 W. TriWahyuni, B. RizaPutra, C. Harito, D. V. Bavykin, F. C. Walsh, T. D. James, G. Kociok-Köhn and F. Marken, *Electroanalysis*, 2017, **30**, 1303–1310.
- 329 E. Shoji and M. S. Freund, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2001, 123, 3383–3384.
- 330 B. Lakard, S. Carquigny, O. Segut, T. Patois and S. Lakard, *Metals*, 2015, 5, 1371– 1386.
- 331 M. J. Lundahl, V. Klar, L. Wang, M. Ago and O. J. Rojas, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2017, 56, 8–19.
- 332 I. Siró and D. Plackett, *Cellulose*, 2010, **17**, 459–494.
- I. Hoeger, O. J. Rojas, K. Efimenko, O. D. Velev and S. S. Kelley, *Soft Matter*, 2011, 7, 1957.

- 334 M. Zhao, S. Kuga, S. Jiang, M. Wu and Y. Huang, *Cellulose*, 2016, **23**, 2809–2818.
- 335 J. Wang, J. Niu, T. Sawada, Z. Shao and T. Serizawa, *Biomacromolecules*, 2017, **18**, 4196–4205.